

Economics and Statistics Service

Statistical Research Division

ESS Staff Report Number AGESS810514

May 1981

# One, Two, and Three Line Segment "Straw Man" Models

1

Soybean Yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana

Jeanne L. Sebaugh

COMPARISON OF ONE, TWO, AND THREE LINE SEGMENT "STRAW MAN" MODELS FOR SOYBEAN YIELDS IN IOWA, ILLINOIS, AND INDIANA. By Jeanne L. Sebaugh; Statistical Research Division, Economics and Statistics Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Columbia, Missouri 65201; May 1981. ESS Staff Report No. AGESS 810514.

#### ABSTRACT

All of the straw man models attempt to explain differences in yields over time by fitting trend lines to the yield data. The one line segment straw man model, simple linear regression, describes a uniform increase in yields over time. The two and three line segment straw man models allow the rate of change in yields to vary over the time period. The performance of the three models in predicting soybean yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana is compared based on eight model characteristics. There is little difference between the three models in relation to seven of the characteristics: objectivity, consistency with scientific knowledge, adequacy, timeliness, minimum costs, simplicity, and accurate current measures of modeled yield reliability. The one line model performs somewhat better than the other straw man models on the remaining characteristics, yield indication reliability.

Key words: Model comparison, yield modeling, linear regression.

#### 

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author wishes to thank Wendell Wilson, other members of the Yield Evaluation Section and various AgRISTARS Yield Development Project personnel for their comments and assistance, and Joan Wendt for typing this report.

#### COMPARISON OF ONE, TWO, AND THREE LINE SEGMENT "STRAW MAN" MODELS FOR SOYBEAN YIELDS IN IOWA, ILLINOIS, AND INDIANA

by Jeanne L. Sebaugh Mathematical Statistician

This research was conducted as part of the AgRISTARS Yield Model Development Project. It is part of task 3 (subtask 2) in major project element number 1, as identified in the 1980 Yield Model Development Project Implementation Plan. As an internal project document, this report is identified as shown below.

> AgRISTARS Yield Model Development Project

> > YMD-1-3-2(81-05.1)

#### FOREWARD

Development and application of techniques for crop yield model test and evaluation are important parts of the Yield Model Development Project in AgRISTARS.<sup>1</sup>/ Promising yield models available in the literature or from various researchers will be subjected to performance test and evaluation. In order that there may be a common reference for describing the capabilities and limitations of these models, criteria for doing so have been developed and described in a document entitled Crop Yield Model <u>Test and Evaluation Criteria</u> (Wilson, et al., 1980). These criteria are used both in the evaluation of a single model and in comparisons between models.

The purpose of this document is to gain some experience in the application of the criteria for comparison purposes. Previous documents have used the same criteria for model evaluation. In addition, statistical tests which compare the performance of two models have been developed and are used. It is anticipated that the evaluation and comparison of other models will be done in a similar manner.

The models to be evaluated and compared were chosen to be quite simple since the focus of attention is on the "pilot test" of the procedures. The models involved are the "straw man" crop yield models developed and discussed by Kestle (1981). This document compares the one, two, and three line segment models which all regress yield on year.

Jeanne L. Sebaugh Mathematical Statistician Vield Evaluation Section Vield Research Branch Statistical Research Division

AgRISTARS (Agriculture and Resources Inventory Surveys Through Aerospace Remote Sensing) is a multi-agency research program to meet some current and new information needs of the U. S. Department of Agriculture.

# Table of Contents

	Page
Summary of Conclusions and Recommendations	1
Application Description	1
Review of Models	1 1 2 2 2 3
Comparison Methodology	3 3 3 4 7
Model Comparison	, 9
Have Small Bias But the One Line Model Has the Smallest Root Mean Square Error and Standard Deviation	. 9
One Line Model Performing Best	9 20
<pre>Statistical Tests Based on d = Ŷ - Y Show Some Preference for the One Line Model</pre>	. 20 . 40 . 40 . 41 . 41
All Models Have a Poor Current Measure of Modeled Yield Reliability	. 41 . 41 . 42
Conclusions	. 42
Recommendations	. 42
References	. 44
Appendix	. 45 . 45
Indiana	. 48

# List of Figures and Tables

	Page
Table 1:	Average Production and Yield for Test Years 1970-79 5
Figure 1:	Production of soybeans by CRD (1970-79 average) as a percent of the regional total 6
Table 2:	Model Comparison Based on the Bias (Quintals/Hectare) Derived From Independent Test Years
Table 3:	Model Comparison Based on the Root Mean Square Error (Quintals/Hectare) Derived From Independent Test Years 11
Figure 2:	Number indicates the model with smallest root mean square error for soybean yields based on test years 1970-79 12
Table 4:	Model Comparison Based on the Standard Deviation (Quintals/ Hectare) Derived From Independent Test Years
Table 5:	Model Comparison Based on the Percent of Years  Relative Difference  > 10% Derived From Independent Test Years 14
Figure 3:	Number indicates the soybean model(s) with smallest percent of test years (1970-1979) having absolute value of the relative difference greater than ten percent
Table 6:	Model Comparison Based on the Largest  Relative Difference  Derived From Independent Test Years
Figure 4:	Number indicates the soybean model with smallest value of the largest absolute relative difference during the test years 1970-1979
Table 7:	Model Comparison Based on the Next Largest  Relative Difference  Derived From Independent Test Years
Figure 5:	Number indicates the soybean model with smallest value of the next largest absolute relative difference during the test years 1970-1979
Figure 6:	Iowa State Model. Actual and Predicted Yields for the Test Years 1970-1979
Figure 7:	Illinois State Model. Actual and Predicted Yields for the Test Years 1970-1979
Figure 8:	Indiana State Model. Actual and Predicted Yields for the Test Years 1970-1979
Table 8:	Model Comparison Based on the Percent of Years the Direction of Change From the Previous Year is Correct During Independent Test Years

Figure 9:	Number indicates the soybean model(s) with largest percent of test years (1970-1979) having agreement in direction of change from the previous year between predicted and actual yields	25
Table 9:	Model Comparison Based on the Percent of Years the Direction of Change From a Three Year Base Period is Correct During Independent Test Years	26
Figure 10:	Number indicates the soybean model(s) with largest percent of test years (1970-1979) having agreement in direction of change from the previous three year average between pre- dicted and actual yields	27
Table 10:	Model Comparison Based on the Correlation Between Actual and Predicted Yields During Independent Test Years	28
Figure 11:	Number indicates the soybean model with the largest correlation coefficient between actual and predicted yields over the test years (1970-1979)	2 <b>9</b>
Table ll:	Model Comparison Based on Paired-Sample Statistical Tests 2 Line Model With 3 Line Model	31
Figure 12:	Comparison of 2 line and 3 line models to predict soybean yields based on the average of $\left d\right $ = $\left \hat{Y}-Y\right $ for 1970-1979 .	32
Figure 13:	Comparison of 2 line and 3 line models to predict soybean yields based on the percent of test years (1970-1979) with smaller $ d  =  \hat{Y}-Y  \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	33
Table 12:	Model Comparison Based on Paired-Sample Statistical Tests 1 Line Model With 2 Line Model	34
Figure 14:	Comparison of 1 line and 2 line models to predict soybean yields based on the average of $ d  =  \hat{Y}-Y $ for 1970-1979.	35
Figure 15:	Comparison of 1 line and 2 line models to predict soybean yields based on the percent of test years (1970-1979) with smaller $ d  =  \hat{Y}-Y  \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	36
Table 13:	Model Comparison Based on Paired-Sample Statistical Tests 1 Line Model With 3 Line Model	37
Figure 16:	Comparison of 1 line and 3 line models to predict soybean yields based on the average of $ d $ = $ \hat{Y}-Y $ for 1970-1979 .	38
Figure 17:	Comparison of 1 line and 3 line models to predict soybean yields based on the percent of test years (1970-1979) with smaller $ d  =  \hat{Y}-Y  \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	39
Table 14:	Model Comparison of the Current Indication of Modeled Yield Reliability Based on the Correlation Coefficient Between Base Period Predicted and Test Year Actual Accuracy	43

# Page

,

#### Comparison of One, Two, and Three Line Segment "Straw Man" Models for Soybean Yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana

#### Jeanne L. Sebaugh

#### SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Straw man model 1, simple linear regression of yield over time, is preferred over the two and three line straw man models for predicting soybean yields. The one line model performs better than the other straw man models in terms of yield indication reliability. There is little difference between the three models in relation to the other seven criteria. However, it can not be concluded from this analysis that the rate of change in yields has in fact been uniform over time. Also, other models not considered here may outperform straw man model 1.

#### APPLICATION DESCRIPTION

#### Exercise in Applying Procedures for Model Comparison

Test and evaluation of candidate crop yield models for use with particular crops and geographic regions are major tasks within the AgRISTARS program. In order that there may be common reference for describing the capabilities and limitations of competing models, criteria for crop yield model test and evaluation have been developed (Wilson, et al., 1980). In addition, the cooperative agreement with the Department of Statistics at the University of Missouri-Columbia has produced some related documents (Bhattacharyay, 1980; Moeschberger, 1980; Thompson, 1980).

This document describes the application of the criteria and statistical procedures to straw man models developed for soybeans in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana (Kestle, 1981). It is hoped that this exercise will provide an opportunity to see how well the criteria and statistical procedures perform in actual use as well as establish some base lines for their implementation.

#### **REVIEW OF MODELS**

#### Straw Man Models Describe Technological Trends

All of the straw man models attempt to explain differences in crop yields over time by simply fitting trend lines to the yield data. Improvements in technology, including varieties, hybrids, fertilizers, insecticides, herbicides, farming practices, equipment, etc., have resulted in steady improvements in yields. There are occasional set backs, primarily due to weather, but the overall trend has been towards increasing yields. By using year as the only independent variable, the straw man models demonstrate how much of the year-to-year differences in yield can be explained by this analogue to technological trend.

#### Straw Man Model 1 - Uniform Trend Over Time

Straw man model 1 is a simple linear regression over time. The statistical model is

$$E(Y) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X,$$

where Y is the yield in quintals per hectare and X is the corresponding year number (1950 = 0).

The inherent assumption in a simple linear regression model is that the rate of change in the Y variable is constant over the entire range of the X values. In our case, this means that the year-to-year increases in yield are assumed to be the same throughout the entire time period. More information about straw man model 1 may be found in <u>Evaluation of "Straw Man" Model 1, the Simple Linear Model, For Soybean Yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana</u> (Sebaugh, 1981).

#### Straw Man Model 2 - Two Trends Over Time

Straw man model 2 consists of two intersecting line segments. The statistical model is

$$E(Y) = \beta_{10} + \beta_{11}X, X \le \tau$$
$$E(Y) = \beta_{20} + \beta_{21}X, X > \tau,$$

where Y is the yield in quintals per hectare, X is the corresponding year number (1950 = 0), and  $\tau$  is the join point where the two lines intersect.  $\tau$  is unknown but is objectively estimated using a FORTRAN program based on Hudson's (1966) least squares algorithm. Following Kestle's (1981) suggestion, the slopes of the two lines,  $\beta_{11}$  and  $\beta_{21}$  are constrained to be positive and the last line segment is constrained to cover at least five years. The length of the first line segment is not so constrained since the beginning point is arbitrary.

This model assumes that Y increases in a continuous fashion but that the rate of change in Y is not the same over the entire range of X values. Two different rates of change are allowed,  $\beta_{11}$  and  $\beta_{21}$ . So year-to-year increases in yield may occur at a faster (or slower) rate later on in the time period than they did earlier in the time period. More information about straw man model 2 may be found in Evaluation of "Straw Man" Model 2, Two Trends Over Time, For Soybean Yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana (Sebaugh, 1981).

Straw man model 3 consists of three intersecting line segments. The statistical model is

> $E(Y) = \beta_{1 0} + \beta_{1 1} X, X \le \tau_1$   $E(Y) = \beta_{2 0} + \beta_{2 1} X, \tau_1 < X \le \tau_2$  $E(Y) = \beta_{3 0} + \beta_{3 1} X, X > \tau_2,$

where Y is the yield in quintals per hectare, X is the corresponding year number (1950 = 0),  $\tau_1$  is the join point where the first two lines intersect, and  $\tau_2$  is the join point where the last two lines intersect.  $\tau_1$  and  $\tau_2$  are unknown but are objectively estimated using a FORTRAN program based on Hudson's (1966) least squares algorithm. Again, following Kestle's (1981) suggestions, the slopes of the three lines,  $\beta_{11}$ ,  $\beta_{21}$ , and  $\beta_{31}$ , are constrained to be positive and the last two line segments are constrained to cover at least five years each. The length of the first line segment is not so constrained since the beginning point is arbitrary.

This model assumes that Y increases in a continuous fashion but that the rate of change in Y is not the same over the entire range of X values. Three different rates of change are allowed,  $\beta_{11}$ ,  $\beta_{21}$ , and  $\beta_{31}$ . So year-to-year increases in yield may occur at different rates at different intervals over the time period. More information about straw man model 3 may be found in Evaluation of "Straw Man" Model 3, Three Trends Over Time, For Soybean Yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana (Sebaugh, 1981).

#### COMPARISON METHODOLOGY

#### Eight Model Characteristics to be Compared

The document, <u>Crop Yield Model Test and Evaluation Criteria</u>, (Wilson, <u>et al.</u>, 1980), states:

"The model characteristics to be emphasized in the evaluation process are: yield indication reliability, objectivity, consistency with scientific knowledge, adequacy, timeliness, minimum costs, simplicity, and accurate current measures of modeled yield reliability."

The models will be compared using these characteristics. Each characteristic is discussed individually without regard to the other characteristics. The present discussion makes no presumption as to the relative importance of the characteristics.

#### Quantitative Model Comparisons Are Based on the Same Data

Direct quantitative comparisons between models will be made for two of the previously mentioned criteria: (1) yield indication reliability and (2) accurate current measures of modeled yield reliability. The quantities

involved are derived from the observed yields and the model predicted yields and standard errors of prediction obtained from independent bootstrap tests for each of ten years (1970-1979). The same base period is used for all models in computing model related values for a particular year.

The average production and yield over the ten year test period are listed in Table 1 for each geographic area. Also shown is the percent production each crop reporting district (CRD) contributes to its state and the three state region and the percent production each state contributes to the region. The percentage of regional production for each CRD is shown graphically in Figure 1. Darker shades indicate higher productivity.

Separate models are derived for each CRD, state, and the region. Model related values (predictions and standard errors of prediction) at the state level are also obtained by using a weighted average of that state's CRD model values. Model related values for the region are also obtained using a weighted average of the values from the CRD models and from the state models. The weighting factor used is harvested acreage. Results obtained by aggregating from the CRD models are identified as "CRD aggr." Results obtained by aggregating from the state models are identified as "states aggr."

#### Models Are Ranked According to Performance

Models are ranked for each of the following indicators of yield reliability (order does not imply relative importance):

- (1) the bias,
- (2) the root mean square error (RMSE),
- (3) the standard deviation (SD),
- (4) the percent of years the absolute value of the relative difference exceeds ten percent,
- (5) the largest absolute value of the relative difference,
- (6) the next largest absolute value of the relative difference,
- (7) the percent of years in which the direction of change from the previous year in the  $\hat{Y}$ 's agrees with the Y's.
- (8) the percent of years in which the direction of change from the average of the previous three years in the  $\hat{Y}$ 's agrees with the Y's, and
- (9) the Pearson correlation coefficient between the actual and predicted yields during the independent test years.

Models are also ranked according to the value of the Spearman correlation coefficient which indicates the utility of the model's current measure of modeled yield reliability. For most of the indicators (1-6), the model with the smallest numeric value exhibits the best performance in terms of yield

### TABLE 1 AVERAGE PRODUCTION AND YIELD FOR TEST YEARS 1970-79

#### SOYBEANS IOWA + ILLINOIS + INDIANA

STATE	CRD	PRODUCTION QUINTALS	(1.000) BUSHELS	PERCEN STATE	NT OF REGION	YIE QNTL/HA	LD BU/ACRE
IOWA	10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	10.734 10.992 3,929 8,189 11.207 4,996 5.016 3,107 5.187	39,439 40,389 14,435 30,090 41,177 18,358 18,430 11,415 19,060	16.9 17.3 6.2 12.9 17.7 7.9 7.9 8.2	243859980 662462245 8	23.4 22.7 21.7 22.3 23.7 24.5 22.1 20.4 23.1	34.8 33.3 32.1 35.4 35.4 30.4 30.4 30.4 30.4 30.4 30.4 30.4 30
STATE		63,357	232,793		36.8	22.9	34.0
ILLINOI	5 10 30 40 50 670 890	5.670 6.960 6.331 10.855 12.870 11.412 11.739 4.800 4.694	20,834 25,575 23,263 39,885 47,288 41,931 43,133 17,637 17,248	7.52 98.44 175.10 155.66 6.2	3.3 4.7 6.3 5.6 8.8 7 6.8 8 7 6 8 8 7 6 8 8 7	24.0 223.0 23.0	35.0 35.0 35.0 35.0 35.0 35.0 35.0 35.0
STATE		75,333	276.795		43.7	22.4	33,3
INDIANA	10 20 40 50 70 80 90	5+258 3+717 3+897 4+443 8+100 3+142 3+304 709 1+042	19.320 13.659 14.319 16.326 29.761 11.544 12.139 2.604 3.827	15.6 11.6 13.2 24.1 9.8 2.1 3.1	3.22.24.1.94.6	22.2 21.5 20.5 23.6 21.0 21.0 18.3 19.8	33.0 321.0 331.5 351.2 351.3 31.3 31.3 327.9
STATE		33,612	123,500		19.5	21.9	32.5
REGION		172,301	633,088			22.5	33.4



Figure 1. Production of soybeans by CRD (1970-79 average) as a percent of the regional total. Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.

reliability and is given a rank of 1. For the remaining quantities, the model with the largest value exhibits the most desirable performance. If models are tied for the same level of performance, they are all assigned the lowest rank for which they are tied. For example, if two models are tied for best performance, they are both assigned a rank of 1, the lower of ranks 1 and 2.

It should be remembered that the models are ranked only in relation to each other and not to an absolute standard. Therefore, saying that a particular model performs best or is superior to or more desirable than another model does not necessarily imply that the model is the best of all possible models. It is the best of only those with which it is currently being compared.

# $\frac{\text{Models are Compared Using Statistical}}{\text{Tests Based on } d = \hat{Y} - Y}$

It is desirable to run a statistical test comparing the reliability of competing models. A formal statistical test considers the variability of model performance over time and allows the user to specify an upper limit on the probability of incorrectly declaring one model better than another. This probability is known as  $\alpha$ , the level of significance, or the Type I error.

However, because of the manner in which models are chosen for testing and how they are evaluated, it is challenging to construct a meaningful statistical test. Only yield models which have been presented in the literature or developed by known experts are considered. Therefore, <u>a priori</u>, great differences between the reliability of the models are not expected. A powerful statistical procedure is needed which is able to detect small, although important, differences in reliability. Also, the test should be able to function well with relatively small samples of data for each model, say ten years.

The test should also perform well when only two models are being compared. Often only two models of a particular type, for example, two monthly weather data models or two daily weather data models, are competitive and available for testing. When models of different types are to be compared, it is unlikely that all possible model comparisons will be made. It is more likely that the best models of each type will be compared.

It would appear that an F test could be useful in comparing the mean square errors of two models. However, if the mean square errors are based on ten years of test data and  $\alpha = .05$ , then one model's mean square error must be four times larger than anothers before the models can be declared different. This is an unreasonable requirement since models which are in the evaluation process will almost always be more competitive than this.

A test may be constructed by considering that one model is considered more reliable than another model if its predicted yields, Y's, are closer to the actual yields, Y's. No difference in the reliability of two models for a particular year means that the absolute value of the difference between their predicted yields and the actual yield is the same. The absolute value of the difference is used because it does not matter whether one model overestimates and the other underestimates or whether they both over or underestimate. The reliability of a model for that year is related to the amount of the discrepancy, not its direction. We may define  $|d_1| = |\hat{Y}_1 - Y|$ ,  $|d_2| = |\hat{Y}_2 - Y|$ , and  $D = |d_1| - |d_2|$ . Then the models are equally reliable in a year for which D equals zero. If D is not equal to zero, one model is more reliable than the other for that year. In formal terms, we want to test the null hypothesis that there is no difference in the reliability of the models over all years. To do so the values of D from the ten test years may be used to compute a test statistic and a decision made whether or not to reject the null hypothesis. Since the results for the models are paired each year, paired-sample statistical tests are used.

Two types of paired-sample statistical tests are used: a parametric test using the student "t" test statistic and a nonparametric test using the Wilcoxon signed rank test statistic. One reason for applying both tests is that they require different assumptions. The parametric t-test assumes the D values are normally distributed while the nonparametric test does not. The d values may be considered to be approximately normally distributed. The |d| values would then be folded normals rather than normally distributed. Although both models are folded at |d| = 0, their means may be different and the distribution of D has a possibility of not being normally distributed. The t-test is robust with respect to the normality assumption; however, this possible violation of the assumption is one reason for also running the nonparametric test.

The other reason for running both tests concerns the conditions under which the null hypothesis is rejected by each test. Using the parametric test, the basis for rejecting the null hypothesis is the average size of the D values as compared to their variability. The t-test statistic is the average of the sample D's divided by the sample standard error of the D's. The hypothesis will be rejected and the model with the smaller |d| values declared more reliable if t is large (either positive or negative). However, it is possible that one model could have a smaller |d| value for each of the test years, in other words, be very consistent in outperforming the other model, and still the null hypothesis may not be rejected by the parametric test unless the average value of D is large enough. The parametric test implicitly requires that one model have more years with smaller |d| values than the other model and explicitly requires that, on the average, the |d|values be smaller by a sufficient amount before that model may be declared more reliable.

Using the nonparametric test, the null hypothesis will always be rejected if one model has smaller |d| values for each of the test years, regardless of the magnitude of the D values. Therefore, if the models are very competitive in terms of the |d| values each year, but one model consistently, although slightly, outperforms the other model, the nonparametric test will still declare the consistent model to be more reliable.

The hypothesis of equal model performance will only be rejected by the nonparametric test if one model has more years with smaller |d| values than the other model. The model with more smaller |d| values is considered the more reliable model in terms of consistency of performance. However, to reject the null hypothesis and declare one model clearly better than another, consistency of performance is not a sufficient requirement (although it is necessary). Consider the situation in which one model is more consistent than the other but the largest D values occur when the less consistent model performs better. In the few years the less consistent model performs better, it performs much better. A dilemma exists since one model is more consistent than the other but the biggest differences between the models occur when the consistent model performs worse. The null hypothesis will not be rejected and the consistent model will not be declared better if this situation occurs. The null hypothesis will be rejected only if one model is more consistent and the biggest differences between the models occur when the consistent model performs better.

#### MODEL COMPARISON

#### Indicators of Yield Reliability Based on $d = \hat{Y} - Y$ Show All Models Have Small Bias But the One Line Model Has the Smallest Root Mean Square Error and Standard Deviation

The model values and comparative ranks for the bias, the root mean square error (RMSE), and the standard deviation (SD) are given in Tables 2, 3 and 4. There is no clear cut best model in terms of bias. At the CRD level, the three line model has the smallest bias more often than either other model (12 out of 27 times). However, it is not ranked 1 for bias at either the state or region levels. This inconsistency in performance is symptomatic of the small amount of bias produced by each of the models.

The one line model is clearly the most accurate model. In 24 of the 27 CRDs (89%), the one line model has the smallest root mean square error and standard deviation. The best performing model in each CRD according to the root mean square error is shown in Figure 2. The one line model also has the best performance at the state and region levels.

The three line model has the worst accuracy. It has the largest RMSE in 15 (56%) and the largest SD in 16 (59%) out of 27 CRDs. The state and region results are also poorest for the three line model.

#### Indicators of Yield Reliability Based on rd = $(d/Y) \pm 100$ Show the One Line Model Performing Best

The model values and comparative ranks for the indicators of yield reliability based on the relative difference, rd, are given in Tables 5, 6 and 7. These indicators are valuable for demonstrating the worst performance of a model. Therefore, the best performing model will have the smallest values for the percent of years the absolute value of the relative difference exceeds ten percent and for the largest and the next largest absolute value of the relative difference.

In 20 of 27 CRDs (74%), the one line model has the smallest (or is tied for the smallest) percent of years in which the absolute value of rd exceeds ten percent (Figure 3). Except for the Iowa state model, the one line model also performs best at the state and region levels. There is little difference between the performance of the two and three line models.

#### TABLE 2 MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE BIAS (QUINTALSZHECTARE) DERIVED FROM INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS

.

STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA. ILLINOIS. INDIANA

				MODE	El			
STATE C		BIAS	NE   RANK	2 ( ) 9145	NES RANK		3 L1 As	NEC RANK
IOWA	10   - 20   - 30   - 50   50   50	0.79 0.18 0.69 0.06 0.37 0.51 1.06 0.14 0.35	(3) (2) (3) (1) (3) (3) (3) (1) (1) (3)	-0.21 0.10 -0.45 -0.26 0.30 0.18 0.41 0.36 0.00	(2) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (1)		05 227 61 200 31 01	(1) (3) (1) (1) (2)
STATE MODE CRDS AGO		$\begin{array}{c} 0 \bullet 0 \\ 0 \bullet 0 \\ 1 \end{array}$	(1) (1)	-0.10 0.03	(2) (3)	-0. -0.	32 02	(3) (2)
ILLINDIS	10   - 20   - 20   - 30   - 50   - 70   - 80   - 80   - ED	0.29 0.73 0.24 0.04 0.38 0.14 0.05 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} (3) \\ (3) \\ (1) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (1) \\$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.13 \\ -0.04 \\ -0.15 \\ 0.19 \\ 0.32 \\ 0.19 \\ 0.37 \\ -0.16 \\ -0.60 \\ 0.29 \end{array}$	(2) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (3) (3)		093 032 032 032 038 038 03 03 03 03 03 03 03 03 03 03 03 03 03	$(1) \\ (2) \\ (1) \\ (3) \\ (1) \\ (3) \\ (2) $
CRDS AG	   	0.12	(2)	0.11	(1)	0.	17	(3)
INDIANA	10   - 20   - 30   - 40   - 50   - 60   - 70   80   90	0.59 0.90 1.11 0.13 0.91 0.68 1.74 1.62	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-0.03 0.11 -0.11 0.44 0.23 0.76 0.41 0.91 0.66	(1) (1) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2)		30 129 129 60 58 58 55	(2) (2) (3) (3) (1) (1)
STATE MODE CRDS AGO	EL – GR. –	0.41 0.42	(3) (3)	0.24 0.28	(1) (1)	0. 0.	39 39	(2) (2)
REGION MOI CRDS AGO STATES AGO	DELI - GR•I - GR•I -	0.07 0.11 0.07	(1) (1) (1)	0.16 0.16 0.19	(3) (2) (3)	0.00	13 18 08	(2) (3) (2)

#### TABLE 3 MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE ROOT MEAN SQUARE ERROR (QUINTALS/HECTARE) DERIVED FROM INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS

# STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA, ILLINOIS, INDIANA

		MODEL	
STATE CRD	l LINE	2 LINES	3 LINES
	RMSE RANK	RMSF RANK	RMSE RANK
IOWA 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3.35 (2) 1.68 (2) 2.69 (3) 2.90 (3) 2.74 (2) 2.75 (2) 2.75 (2) 2.75 (2) 3.32 (2) 3.32 (2)	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
STATE MODEL	1.95 (1)	2.29 (2)	2.51 (3)
CRDS AGGR.	1.95 (1)	2.27 (2)	2.32 (3)
ILLINOIS 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.41 & (?) \\ 2.83 & (2) \\ 3.32 & (3) \\ 3.72 & (2) \\ 3.31 & (?) \\ 2.75 & (3) \\ 2.67 & (?) \\ 2.40 & (2) \\ 2.45 & (2) \end{array}$	3.46 (3) 2.96 (3) 3.93 (3) 3.938 (3) 3.956 (2) 2.94 (3) 2.94 (3) 2.94 (3) 2.94 (3) 2.94 (3) 2.94 (3)
STATE MODEL	$\begin{array}{c} 2.51 & (1) \\ 2.53 & (1) \end{array}$	2.69 (2)	3.08 (3)
CRDS AGGR.		2.80 (2)	2.90 (3)
INDIANA 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{c} 2 \cdot 23 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 65 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 34 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 51 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 51 & (1) \\ 1 \cdot 79 & (1) \\ 1 \cdot 93 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 74 & (3) \\ 2 \cdot 74 & (3) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccc} 2.62 & (2) \\ 3.10 & (3) \\ 2.46 & (2) \\ 3.444 & (3) \\ 3.03 & (3) \\ 2.17 & (2) \\ 2.04 & (3) \\ 2.39 & (2) \\ 2.34 & (1) \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.85 & (3) \\ 2.99 & (2) \\ 2.56 & (3) \\ 3.956 & (2) \\ 3.944 & (2) \\ 2.37 & (2) \\ 2.37 & (2) \\ 2.37 & (2) \end{array}$
STATE MODEL	2.05 (1)	2.44 (2)	2.51 (3)
CRDS AGGR.	2.03 (1)	2.47 (2)	2.50 (3)
REGION MODEL	1.96 (1)	2.39 (2)	2.51 (3)
CRDS AGGR.	1.99 (1)	2.30 (2)	2.33 (3)
STATES AGGR.	2.00 (1)	2.29 (2)	2.44 (3)

Figure 2. Number indicates the model with smallest root mean square error for soybean yields based on test years 1970-1979. Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



#### TABLE 4 MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE STANDARD DEVIATION (QUINTALS/HECTARE) DERIVED FROM INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS

# STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA: ILLINOIS: INDIANA

			MODEL	
STATE	CRD	I LINE SD RANK	2 LINES SD RANK	3 LINES SD RANK
IOWA	10 200 300 4500 700 80	$\begin{array}{ccccccc} 2 \cdot 58 & (1) \\ 1 \cdot 48 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 01 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 60 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 57 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 13 & (1) \\ 1 \cdot 91 & (2) \\ 2 \cdot 86 & (1) \\ 2 \cdot 64 & (1) \end{array}$	3.35 (2) 1.67 (2) 2.64 (3) 2.69 (3) 2.65 (3) 1.95 (3) 3.32 (2) 3.22 (2)	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
STATE V CRDS	ODEL AGGR.	1.95 (1) 1.95 (1)	2.29 (2) 2.27 (2)	2.49 (3) 2.32 (3)
ILLINOI	S 10 30 3450 70 89	$\begin{array}{c} 2.91 & (1) \\ 2.61 & (1) \\ 2.79 & (1) \\ 3.21 & (1) \\ 2.72 & (1) \\ 2.46 & (1) \\ 2.46 & (1) \\ 2.47 & (1) \\ 2.39 & (1) \\ 2.44 & (2) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.41 & (2) \\ 2.83 & (2) \\ 3.31 & (3) \\ 3.71 & (2) \\ 3.29 & (2) \\ 2.74 & (3) \\ 2.65 & (2) \\ 2.39 & (2) \\ 2.38 & (1) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
STATE M CRDS	AGGR.	2•51 (1) 2•52 (1)	2.67 (2) 2.80 (2)	3.08 (3) 2.90 (3)
INDIANA	100 200 3400 700 700 700 700	$\begin{array}{c} 2.15 & (1) \\ 2.49 & (1) \\ 2.667 & (1) \\ 2.667 & (1) \\ 2.667 & (1) \\ 1.666 & (1) \\ 1.833 & (1) \\ 1.833 & (1) \\ 2.12 & (2) \\ 2.21 & (1) \end{array}$	2.62 (2) 3.09 (3) 2.45 (2) 3.45 (2) 3.41 (3) 3.02 (3) 2.03 (2) 2.00 (3) 2.21 (3) 2.25 (2)	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
STATE M CRDS	ODEL AGGR.	2.01 (1) 1.99 (1)	2.43 (2) 2.46 (2)	2.48 (3) 2.47 (3)
REGION CRDS STATES	MODEL AGGR. AGGR.	1.96 (1) 1.99 (1) 2.00 (1)	2.38 (2) 2.29 (2) 2.28 (2)	2.50 (3) 2.33 (3) 2.44 (3)

TABLE 5	
MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE	•
DEPIVED FORM INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS	0.5

# STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA, ILLINOIS, INDIANA

				<u>א</u> ס	DEL		
STATE	CRD	% <sup>1</sup>	RANK	×	RANK	3 3	RANK
IOWA	10 200 400 500 700 800 90	60 10 40 40 20 30 20	(3) (1) (1) (3) (1) (3) (1) (1)	50 250 500 500 200 400 400 40	(1) (3) (1) (2) (1) (2) (2)	5000 200 400 520 520 520 40	(1) (2) (1) (2) (3) (3) (2)
STATE M CRDS	AGGR.	50 50	(1)	10 20	(1) (1)	20 20	(2) (1)
ILLINOI	5 10 30 450 70 80 90	40 20 10 40 50	(2) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	30 40 50 40 40 50 70	(1) (2) (2) (1) (1) (2)	40 30 50 40 30 50 50 70	(2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (2)
STATE M CRDS	ODEL AGGR.	20 30	(1) $(1)$	40 40	(S) (S)	60 40	(3) (2)
INDIANA	10 200 300 450 70 80 90	40 30 30 30 20 40 40	(1) (1) (2) (1) (1) (1)	40 500 550 500 550 50	(1) (2) (3) (3) (1) (3) (2) (3)	40 20 40 30 30 50 40	(1) (2) (12) (13) (2) (13) (2) (13) (2) (13) (2) (13) (2)
STATE M CRDS	ODEL AGGR.	20 20	(1) (1)	30 30	(2)	30 30	(2) (2)
REGION CRDS STATES	MODEL AGGR• AGGR•	10 10 10	(1) (1) (1)	20 20 20	(2) (2) (2)	20 20 20	(2) (2) (2)

Figure 3. Number indicates the soybean model(s) with smallest percent of test years (1970-1979) having absolute value of the relative difference greater than ten percent. Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



#### TABLE 6 MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE LARGEST TRELATIVE DIFFERENCET DERIVED FROM INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS

#### STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA, ILLINOIS, INDIANA

		MODEL	
STATE CRD	1 LINE	2 LINES	3 LINES
	RD RANK	RD RANK	RD RANK
IOWA 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$ \begin{array}{cccc} -17.4 & (1) \\ 19.6 & (2) \\ 15.8 & (1) \\ 25.4 & (3) \\ 28.0 & (1) \\ 27.1 & (2) \\ 26.5 & (3) \\ 57.4 & (1) \\ 38.1 & (1) \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
STATE MODEL	23.9 (1)	29.8 (2)	29.8 (2)
CRDS AGGR.	23.9 (1)	28.2 (2)	29.3 (3)
ILLINDIS 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{c} 41.2 & (1) \\ 26.5 & (1) \\ 42.8 & (1) \\ 52.7 & (1) \\ 36.9 & (1) \\ 34.3 & (2) \\ 36.8 & (2) \\ 26.6 & (3) \\ 26.6 & (2) \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 46.5 & (2) \\ 32.9 & (2) \\ 49.4 & (3) \\ 59.9 & (3) \\ 43.2 & (2) \\ 36.0 & (3) \\ 33.6 & (1) \\ 22.1 & (1) \\ 18.7 & (1) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccc} 47.1 & (3) \\ 33.5 & (3) \\ 45.8 & (2) \\ 59.3 & (2) \\ 43.7 & (3) \\ 32.0 & (1) \\ 38.8 & (3) \\ 25.3 & (2) \\ 30.5 & (3) \\ \end{array}$
CRDS AGGR.	37.6 (1)	40•0 (2)	41.2 (3)
	37.0 (1)	39•4 (2)	40.0 (3)
INDIANA 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{c} 25.4 & (1) \\ 31.0 & (1) \\ 24.5 & (1) \\ 48.1 & (1) \\ 28.2 & (1) \\ 18.6 & (1) \\ 22.6 & (3) \\ 33.8 & (3) \\ 33.1 & (3) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 30.6 & (2) \\ 40.5 & (2) \\ 33.3 & (2) \\ 56.5 & (2) \\ 37.9 & (2) \\ 27.9 & (2) \\ 16.4 & (1) \\ 21.2 & (2) \\ 26.1 & (2) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccc} 31.8 & (3) \\ 40.5 & (2) \\ 33.3 & (2) \\ 57.8 & (3) \\ 39.0 & (3) \\ 30.2 & (3) \\ -16.9 & (2) \\ 20.5 & (1) \\ 23.6 & (1) \end{array}$
STATE MODEL	$\begin{array}{c} 28.0 & (1) \\ 28.0 & (1) \end{array}$	(S) 1.56	33.9 (3)
CRDS AGGR.		(S) 9.56	34.5 (3)
REGION MODEL	$ \begin{array}{c}   \\ 29.9 \\ (1) \\ 29.9 \\ (1) \\ 30.5 \\ (1) \end{array} $	33.9 (2)	35.1 (3)
CRDS AGGR.		33.9 (2)	34.5 (3)
STATES AGGR.		34.5 (2)	35.1 (3)

Figure 4. Number indicates the soybean model with smallest value of the largest absolute relative difference during the test years 1970-1979. Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



#### TABLE 7 MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE NEXT LARGEST IRELATIVE DIFFERENCE DERIVED FROM INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS

STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA. ILLINOIS. INDIANA

	1	1 I INF	MODEL 2 LINES 1	3 I INES
STATE	CRD	RĎ RĂNK	RD RANK	RĎ RĂNK
IOWA	10 20 30 50 70 80 90	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 23.0 & (2) \\ -11.0 & (3) \\ -20.0 & (2) \\ -18.3 & (2) \\ -13.6 & (1) \\ -12.7 & (2) \\ 10.6 & (1) \\ 17.5 & (2) \\ 19.1 & (3) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 24.5 & (3) \\ -10.2 & (2) \\ -20.0 & (2) \\ -19.4 & (3) \\ -19.8 & (3) \\ -13.0 & (3) \\ -10.8 & (2) \\ 19.0 & (3) \\ 18.6 & (2) \end{array}$
STATE M CPDS	AGGR.	12.5 (2) 12.5 (3)	-9.7 (1) -10.8 (1)	-13.9 (3) -11.6 (2)
ILLINOI	5 10 30 40 50 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{c} -12.8 & (1) \\ -16.6 & (2) \\ -10.3 & (1) \\ -9.6 & (1) \\ -12.5 & (1) \\ -10.3 & (1) \\ -12.4 & (1) \\ -13.9 & (1) \\ 19.9 & (2) \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} -16.8 & (3) \\ -17.2 & (3) \\ 14.5 & (2) \\ -14.4 & (2) \\ 15.4 & (2) \\ -12.0 & (2) \\ 18.0 & (2) \\ -17.7 & (3) \\ 17.9 & (1) \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} -16 \cdot 1 & (2) \\ -16 \cdot 0 & (1) \\ 16 \cdot 8 & (3) \\ 17 \cdot 2 & (3) \\ -15 \cdot 5 & (3) \\ -15 \cdot 8 & (3) \\ 18 \cdot 8 & (3) \\ -16 \cdot 0 & (2) \\ 23 \cdot 7 & (3) \end{array}$
STATE M CRDS	AGGR.	-10.9 (1) -11.7 (1)	12.3 (2) -14.5 (2)	-15.6 (3) -14.5 (2)
INDIANA	10 20 30 40 50 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{c} -13.4 & (1) \\ -15.5 & (1) \\ -18.9 & (2) \\ -12.9 & (1) \\ -13.0 & (1) \\ -10.8 & (1) \\ 16.7 & (3) \\ 27.6 & (3) \\ 30.4 & (3) \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 17.3 (2) \\ -18.9 (3) \\ -17.3 (1) \\ 16.2 (3) \\ 20.3 (2) \\ 22.7 (3) \\ -13.5 (1) \\ 20.9 (2) \\ 22.3 (1) \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 20.8 \\ -15.9 \\ -19.7 \\ 31.3 \\ 21.3 \\ 22.4 \\ 22.4 \\ 20.2 \\ 13.4 \\ 22.4 \\ $
STATE M GRDS	ODEL AGGR.	-12.0 (1) -11.6 (1)	16.2 (2) 16.7 (3)	19.7 (3) 16.2 (2)
REGION CRDS STATES	MODEL AGGR AGGR	$\begin{array}{c} -8.1 & (1) \\ -8.5 & (1) \\ -8.1 & (1) \end{array}$	-13.3 (2) -11.7 (2) -10.9 (2)	-13.3 (2) -11.7 (2) -12.1 (3)

Figure 5. Number indicates the soybean model with smallest value of the next largest absolute relative difference during the test years 1970-1979. Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



In 16 of 27 CRDs (59%), the one line model has the smallest value of the largest absolute relative difference (Figure 4). It also has the smallest value at the state and region levels. The three line model performs worst.

In 19 of 27 CRDs (70%), the one line model has the smallest value of the next largest absolute relative difference (Figure 5). Except for Iowa, the one line model also ranks first at the state and region levels. The three line model performs worst at the CRD level and is somewhat worse than the two line model at the state and region levels.

#### Indicators of Yield Reliability Based on Y and Y Show the One Line Model Performing Somewhat Better

Plots of the actual and predicted yields over the ten-year test period for each state model are displayed in Figures 6-8. The model values and the comparative ranks for the indicators of yield reliability based on Y and  $\hat{Y}$ are given in Tables 8, 9 and 10. These indicators demonstrate the correspondence between actual and predicted yields. The best performing model will have the largest value for the percent of years in which the direction of change from the previous year and from the average of the previous three years in the  $\hat{Y}$ 's agrees with the Y's and for the correlation coefficient between the actual and predicted yields.

In terms of correctness in direction of change from the previous year, there is little difference in model performance at any level. Figure 9 shows the highest ranking model(s) for each CRD.

When considering correctness of change from the average of the three previous years, the three line model does worst at the CRD level with little difference between the one and two line models (Figure 10). However, the one line model ranks highest at the state and region levels.

In 21 of 27 CRDs (78%), the Pearson correlation coefficient is closest to +1 for the one line model (Figure 11). The one line model also ranks first at the state and region levels. The three line model performs worst at all levels.

#### Statistical Tests Based on $d = \hat{Y} - \hat{Y}$ Show Some Preference for the One Line Model

The results of the parametric and nonparametric paired-sample statistical test are given in Tables 11, 12 and 13. The results for the comparison of the two multi-line models are given in Table 11. There is little evidence of statistically significant differences between the models.

In only one CRD do the parametric test results show a significant difference between the 2 and 3 line models. The 3 line model performs better in that CRD. However, the 2 line model performs significantly better in the Iowa and Illinois state models and the regional results aggregated from the state models.

The more reliable model in each CRD according to the average value of |d| is presented in Figure 12. The 2 line model performs better in 15 of 27 CRDs (56%), while the 3 line model performs better in 11 of 27 CRDs (41%), and the

#### FIGURE 6

#### IOWA State Model

Actual	and	Predict	ed	Yields	for
the	Test	t Years	19	70-1979	





#### FIGURE 7

# ILLINOIS

# State Model







YEAR

FIGURE 8

#### INDIANA State Model







PEI	MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE PERCENT OF YEARS THE DIRECTION OF CHANGE FROM THE PREVIOUS YEAR IS CORRECT OURING INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS									
STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA, ILLINOIS, INDIANA										
STATE CRD		INE RANK	мот 2 Ц *	MODEL 2 LINES   3 LI % RANK   %						
I OWA 10 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	22322 322322 32232 3254	(1) (2) (1) (1) (1) (1) (3) (1) (2)	22 33 22 11 23 33 44 44 56	(1) (2) (1) (2) (2) (2) (1)	22 02 22 23 35 6 34	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (2) (1) (1) (2)				
STATE MODEL CRDS AGGR	22	(2) (1)	55 25	(2) (1)	33 22	(1) (1)				
ILLINOIS 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	22 11 33 33 11 44 11 22	(13) (13) (13) (13) (13) (13) (13) (13)	22 22 44 44 33 56 33 44	(1) (2) (1) (2) (2) (1) (1) (1)	22 226 336 444 11 33	(1) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2)				
STATE MODEL CRDS AGGR	. 11	(3) (3)	44 44	$(1) \\ (1)$	33 44	(2) (1)				
INDIANA 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	44 33 56 56 44 33 22 33	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (2) (2)	44 22 56 33 22 67 22 56	(1) (2) (3) (2) (2) (1) (2) (1)	33 11 44 56 33 11 44 33 33	(3) (3) (1) (2) (2) (2) (1) (2)				
STATE MODEL CRDS AGGR	- 56 56	(1) (1)	44 44	(2) (2)	44 44	(2) (2)				
REGION MODE CRDS AGGR STATES AGGR	44 33 33	(1) (3) (3)	44 44 56	(1) (1) (1)	44 44 56	(1) (1) (1)				

TABLE 8

Figure 9. Number indicates the soybean model(s) with largest percent of test years (1970-1979) having agreement in direction of change from the previous year between predicted and actual yields. Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



#### TABLE 9 MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE PERCENT OF YEARS THE DIRECTION OF CHANGE FROM A THREE YEAR BASE PERIOD IS CORRECT DURING INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS

#### STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA, ILLINOIS, INDIANA

STATE	CRD	1 %		MO 2 %	DEL LINES RANK	ິ 3 ເ %≂	INES RANK
IOWA	10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	71 71 57 57 43 43 43 29 57	(1) (1) (3) (1) (3) (1) (2) (1) (1)	71 71 71 57 71 43 57 29 43	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (2)	71 57 71 57 57 43 29 14 43	(1) (3) (1) (1) (2) (1) (3) (3) (2)
STATE N CRDS	AGGR.	71 71	(1) (1)	57 57	(2)	57 57	(5) (5)
ILLINOI	15 10 30 40 50 70 80 90	293 443 443 443 299 29	(2) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	297 14 129 43 43	(1) (3) (2) (2) (2) (1) (1)	14 439 149 149 294 299 299 299	(3) (2) (2) (2) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3
STATE CRDS	AGGR.	43 43	(1) (1)	43 14	(1) (3)	14 29	(3) (2)
INDIANA	10 20 30 400 70 80 90	43 57 57 57 29 29 0	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (2) (3) (3)	437 573 2437 457 529	(1) (2) (2) (2) (1) (1) (1)	433 442 2429 252 252	(1) (3) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (1) (1)
STATE N CRDS	AGGR.	57 57	(1) (1)	57 43	(1) (2)	57 43	(1) (2)
REGION CRDS STATES	MODEL AGGR. AGGR.	57 57 57	(1) (1) (1)	29 29 29	(2) (2) (2)	29 29 29	(2) (2)

Figure 10. Number indicates the soybean model(s) with largest percent of test years (1970-1979) having agreement in direction of change from the previous three year average between predicted and actual yields. Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



#### TABLE 10 MODEL COMPARISON BASED ON THE CORRELATION BETWEEN ACTUAL AND PREDICTED YIELDS DURING INDEPENDENT TEST YEARS

#### STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA+ ILLINDIS+ INDIANA

		MODEL	
STATE CRD	1 LINE R RANK	2°LÍNES R RÁNK	3 LINES R RANK
I OWA 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{c} 0.46 & (1) \\ 0.37 & (1) \\ 0.51 & (1) \\ 0.38 & (1) \\ -0.12 & (2) \\ 0.25 & (1) \\ -0.43 & (3) \\ -0.49 & (3) \\ 0.13 & (1) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0.10 & (3) \\ 0.17 & (2) \\ 0.10 & (3) \\ 0.02 & (3) \\ -0.12 & (1) \\ -0.32 & (3) \\ -0.15 & (1) \\ -0.36 & (1) \\ -0.21 & (2) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.25 & (2) \\ -0.28 & (3) \\ 0.21 & (2) \\ 0.23 & (2) \\ -0.24 & (3) \\ -0.24 & (3) \\ -0.24 & (2) \\ -0.43 & (2) \\ -0.34 & (3) \end{array}$
STATE MODEL CRDS AGGR.	0.34 (1) 0.33 (1)	0.04 (2) -0.05 (2)	-0.06 (3) -0.06 (3)
ILLINOIS 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{ccccc} 0.14 & (1) \\ 0.28 & (1) \\ 0.04 & (1) \\ 0.05 & (1) \\ 0.08 & (1) \\ 0.23 & (1) \\ 0.48 & (1) \\ 0.30 & (1) \\ 0.07 & (2) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.27 & (2) \\ 0.06 & (2) \\ -0.37 & (3) \\ -0.27 & (2) \\ -0.23 & (2) \\ -0.12 & (3) \\ 0.30 & (2) \\ 0.29 & (2) \\ 0.21 & (1) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.44 & (3) \\ -0.03 & (3) \\ -0.32 & (2) \\ -0.54 & (3) \\ -0.41 & (3) \\ 0.01 & (2) \\ 0.12 & (3) \\ 0.21 & (3) \\ -0.05 & (3) \end{array}$
STATE MODEL CPDS AGGR.	$\begin{array}{ccc} 0.20 & (1) \\ 0.19 & (1) \end{array}$	0.02 (2) -0.10 (2)	-0.42 (3) -0.24 (3)
INDIANA 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.00 & (2) \\ -0.08 & (2) \\ 0.27 & (2) \\ -0.33 & (3) \\ 0.12 & (3) \\ -0.92 & (2) \\ 0.34 & (3) \\ -0.11 & (1) \\ -0.94 & (2) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.19 & (3) \\ -0.15 & (3) \\ 0.16 & (3) \\ -0.25 & (2) \\ 0.16 & (2) \\ -0.20 & (3) \\ 0.45 & (2) \\ -0.27 & (2) \\ -0.03 & (1) \end{array}$
STATE MODEL CRDS AGGR.	0.44 (1) 0.45 (1)	0.16 (2)	0.04 (3) 0.07 (3)
REGION MODEL CRDS AGGR. STATES AGGR.	   0.38 (1)   0.35 (1)   0.33 (1)	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c} -0.21 & (3) \\ -0.05 & (3) \\ -0.15 & (3) \end{array} $

Figure 11. Number indicates the soybean model with the largest correlation coefficient between actual and predicted yields over the test years (1970-1979). Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



models are tied in 1 CRD. The 2 line model performs better in more of the high producing CRDs.

The nonparametric test results show somewhat more statistical difference between the two models. Significant differences between the models are observed in four CRDs. Three of these favor the 2 line model. The 2 line model performs significantly better in the Iowa and Illinois state models and in the regional results aggregated from the state models. The 2 line model also performs significantly better in the Illinois results aggregated from the CRDs and in the region model.

The better model in each CRD according to the percent of years with smaller |d| is presented in Figure 13. The 2 line model performs better in 12 of 27 CRDs (44%), the 3 line model performs better in 10 of 27 CRDs (37%) and the models are tied in 5 CRDs. The 2 line model performs better in more of the high producing CRDs.

In summary, the results of the statistical tests for yield reliability indicate that the 2 line state model performs better than the 3 line model in Iowa and Illinois. No conclusion can be drawn for Indiana.

The results for the comparison of the 1 line model with the 2 line model are given in Table 12. Again, there is little evidence of statistically significant differences between the models.

The parametric test results show a significant difference in three CRDs, favoring the 1 line model over the 2 line model in each case. There are no significant differences between the models at the state or region level.

The better model in each CRD according to the average value of |d| is presented in Figure 14. The 1 line model performs better than the 2 line model in 24 of 27 CRDs (89%), including the high producing CRDs.

The nonparametric test results again show somewhat more statistical difference between the two models. Seven CRDs show significant differences between the models, all favoring the 1 line model. The 1 line model also performs significantly better in the Iowa results aggregated from the CRDs.

The better model in each CRD according to the percent of years with smaller |d| is presented in Figure 15. The 1 line model performs better in 19 of 27 CRDs (70%), the 2 line model performs better in 3 of 27 CRDs (11%) and the models are tied in 5 CRDs. The 1 line model performs better in more of the high producing CRDs.

In summary, the 1 line model consistently performs slightly better than the 2 line model at the CRD level. Consequently, the state and region results aggregated from the CRDs favor the 1 line model, although usually not by enough to be declared statistically significant. The Iowa and Indiana state models and the region model favor the 1 line model, but again, the difference is not statistically significant.

The results for the comparison of the 1 line model with the 3 line model are given in Table 13. Again, there is little evidence of statistically significant differences between the models.

		M PAIR 2 LI (*=P	ODEL CO ED-SAMP NE MODE <.10, *	TABLE 11 MPARISON BAG LE STATISTIC L WITH 3 LI #=P<.05, ##	SED ON CAL TESTS NE MODEL #=P<.01)	;	
		ST	RAW MAN Inwa I	MODELS - S	DYBEANS DIANA		
		PARA	METRIC	T-TEST	NONPARA	METRIC	RANK TEST
STATE	CRD	AVERAG MOD SM 2	E IDI I EL I SM 3 I	DIFFERENCE OF AVERAGES	% SMALL   MOD   SM 2	ER IDII DEL I SM 3 I	DTFFERENCE OF PERCENTAGE
IOWA	10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	2.67 1.36 2.29 2.16 2.14 1.83 2.14 1.83 2.16 2.44	2.59 1.423 2.399 2.399 2.597 2.5977 2.5977 2.5977 2.5977 2.5977 2.59777 2.59777 2.597777 2.59777777777777777777777777777777777777	0.08 0.06 0.36 0.27 0.23 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.21 0.93	50 40 20 60 40 40 30	400 600 200 300 300 300	10 20 40 ** 0 40 * 10 20 10
STATE M CRDS	ODEL AGGR.	1.79	2.04 1.86	0.25 ** 0.05	70 50	10 50	60 *** 0
ILLINOI	5 10 30 40 50 70 80 90	2.59 2.43 2.442 2.	22222222222222222222222222222222222222	$\begin{array}{c} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 4 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 \\ 0 & 2 \\ \end{array}$	40 70 50 50 70 50 60	60 20 20 20 30 30 30 30 30	20 50 30 ** 30 40 10 30
STATE N	AGGR.	1.91 2.01	2.42 2.21	0.51 ** 0.20	80 60	20 10	60 ** 50 **
INDIANA	10 20 30 450 60 70 80 90	2.15 2.49 1.91 2.645 1.83 1.83 2.19 1.86	2.24 2.31 1.94 2.21 1.68 1.68 1.93 1.92	0.09 0.18 0.03 0.17 0.24 0.22 0.15 0.26 0.06	500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500	50 60 50 60 50 60 50 50 50	0 40 10 20 30 * 20 10 0
STATE CROS	AGGR.	1.92 1.84	1.83 1.87	0.09 0.03	40 50	60 40	20 10
REGION CRDS STATES	MODEL AGGR.	1.68 1.50	1.81 1.54 1.66	0.13 0.04 0.17 **	60 30 70	30 20 20	30 * 10 50 **

Figure 12. Comparison of 2 line and 3 line models to predict soybean yields based on the average of  $|d| = |\hat{Y}-Y|$  for 1970-1979. Number indicates model with smaller average |d|. Blank denotes tie. Stars indicate the level of significance, none (P>0.10), \*(0.05<P<0.10), \*\*(0.01<P<0.05), \*\*\*(P<0.01). Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



Figure 13. Comparison of 2 line and 3 line models to predict soybean yields based on the percent of test years (1970-1979) with smaller  $|d| = |\hat{Y}-Y|$ . Number indicates model with larger percent. Blank denotes tie. Stars indicate the level of significance, none (P>0.10), \*(0.05<P<0.10), \*\*(0.01<P<0.05), \*\*\*(P<0.01). Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



	TABLE 12 MODEL COMPARISON BAG PAIRED-SAMPLE STATISTIC 1 LINE MODEL WITH 2 LIN (*=P<.10, **=P<.05, ***	SED ON CAL TESTS NE MODEL #=P<.01)									
STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS Iowa: Illimois: Indiana											
	PARAMETRIC T-TEST	NUNPARAMETRIC	RANK TEST								
STATE CRD	AVERAGE IDI IDIFFEPENCE	% SMALLEP IDII	DIFFERENCE								
	MODEL OF	MODEL	OF								
	SM 1 SM 2 AVERAGES	SM 1 SM 2 I	PFRCENTAGE								
IOWA 10	2.41 2.67 0.26	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	20								
20	1.08 1.36 0.28		20								
30	1.83 2.29 0.46		60 #								
40	2.08 2.56 0.48 **		80 ##								
50	2.09 2.16 0.07		0								
60	1.57 2.14 0.57		60 #								
70	1.74 1.83 0.09		40								
80	1.98 2.16 0.18		10								
90	1.99 2.44 0.45		40								
STATE MODEL	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	60 40	20								
CRDS AGGR.		70 30	40 *								
ILLINOIS 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90	2.11       2.59       0.48       *         2.01       2.28       0.27         2.13       2.43       0.25         2.18       2.41       0.23         2.06       2.52       0.46         1.98       2.05       0.07         1.94       2.31       0.37         2.11       2.10       0.01         2.28       0.46	$\begin{array}{cccc} 70 & 30 \\ 60 & 40 \\ 70 & 30 \\ 50 & 50 \\ 70 & 30 \\ 50 & 50 \\ 70 & 30 \\ 40 & 60 \\ 50 & 40 \end{array}$	40 * 20 40 40 * 40 * 20 20								
STATE MODEL	1.93 1.91 0.02	40 60	20								
CRDS AGGR.	1.94 2.01 0.07	60 40									
INDIANA 10	1.79 2.15 0.36	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	20								
20	2.22 2.49 0.27		0								
30	1.89 1.91 0.02		80 ***								
40	1.65 2.64 0.99 **		20								
50	2.19 2.45 0.26		20								
60	1.56 1.46 0.10		20								
70	1.51 1.83 0.32		20								
80	2.04 2.19 0.15		20								
90	2.22 1.86 0.36		20								
STATE MODEL	1.59 1.92 0.33	80 20	60								
CRDS AGGR.	1.58 1.84 0.26	50 50	0								
REGION MODEL CRDS AGGR. STATES AGGR.	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	60 40 50 50 40 40	20								

Figure 14. Comparison of 1 line and 2 line models to predict soybean yields based on the average of  $|d| = |\hat{Y}-Y|$  for 1970-1979. Number indicates model with smaller average |d|. Blank denotes tie. Stars indicate the level of significance, none (P>0.10), \*(0.05<P<0.10), \*\*(0.01<P<0.05), \*\*\*(P<0.01). Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



Figure 15. Comparison of 1 line and 2 line models to predict soybean yields based on the percent of test years (1970-1979) with smaller  $|d| = |\hat{Y}-Y|$ . Number indicates model with larger percent. Blank denotes tie. Stars indicate the level of significance, none (P>0.10), \*(0.05<P<0.10), \*\*(0.01<P<0.05), \*\*\*(P<0.01). Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



		PAIR 1 LI (*=P	IODEL CO RED-SAME NE MODE P<.10.	TARLE 13 DMPARISON BA PLE STATISTI EL WITH 3 LI **=P<.05, **	SED ON CAL TESTS NE MODEL #=P<.01)	5	
		ST	RAW MAN	N MODELS - S Illindis, in	OYBEANS DTANA		
		PARA	METRIC	T-TEST	NONPAR	METRIC	RANK TEST
STATE	CRD	AVERAG MOD SM 1	SE IDI DEL SM 3	IDIFFERENCE OF AVERAGES	% SMALL MOI SM 1	ER IDI DEL SM 3	IDTFFERENCE OF IPERCENTAGE
IOWA	10 20 30 50 670 80 90	2.41 1.08 1.83 2.08 2.09 1.57 1.74 1.98 1.99	2.59239 1.9239 2.2221 2.2221 2.2221 2.2221 2.222 2.47	$\begin{array}{c} 0.18 \\ 0.34 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.21 \\ 0.30 \\ 0.49 \\ 0.16 \\ 0.39 \\ 0.48 \end{array}$	50 60 50 60 70 40 60 70 70 70	500 400 500 400 500 500 500 300 30	0 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20
STATE M	ODEL AGGR.	1.42 1.41	2.04 1.86	0.62 + 0.45 *	90 80	10 20	80 ## 60 ##
ILLINOI	5 10 30 40 50 70 80 90	2.11 2.01 2.18 2.18 1.98 1.98 1.94 2.11 2.08	222 222 222 222 222 222 222 222 222 22	0.48 0.40 0.08 0.66 0.52 0.17 0.57 0.11 0.42	80 60 70 80 30 70 60 60	20 40 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 20	60 * 20 50 * 30 * 50 * 20 30
STATE M CRDS	AGGR.	1.93 1.94	2.42 2.21	0.49 0.27	80 70	20 30	60 * 40
INDIANA	10 200 300 560 700 800 90	1.79 2.22 1.89 1.65 2.156 1.51 2.04 2.22	2.24 2.31 1.94 2.21 1.68 1.68 1.92	0.45 0.09 0.05 0.82 * 0.02 0.12 0.17 0.11 0.30	60 40 60 70 30 50 30 40	400 400 375 570 60	20 20 40 40 40 40 20
STATE M	ODEL AGGR.	1.59 1.58	1.83 1.87	0.24 0.29	50 70	50 30	40 40
REGION CRDS STATES	MODEL AGGR. AGGR.	1.39 1.43 1.43	1.81 1.54 1.66	0.42 0.11 0.23	60 60 70	30 40 30	30 * 20 40

Figure 16. Comparison of 1 line and 3 line models to predict soybean yields based on the average of  $|d| = |\hat{Y}-Y|$  for 1970-1979. Number indicates model with smaller average |d|. Blank denotes tie. Stars indicate the level of significance, none (P>0.10), \*(0.05<P<0.10), \*\*(0.01<P<0.05), \*\*\*(P<0.01). Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



Figure 17: Comparison of 1 line and 3 line models to predict soybean yields based on the percent of test years (1970-1979) with smaller  $|d| = |\hat{Y}-Y|$ . Number indicates model with larger percent. Blank denotes tie. Stars indicate level of significance, none (P>0.10), \*(0.05<P<0.10), \*\*(0.01<P<0.05), \*\*\*(P<0.01). Darker shades indicate CRDs with higher production.



The parametric test results show a significant difference in only one CRD. It favors the 1 line model over the 3 line model. The 1 line model performs significantly better in the Iowa state model and the Iowa results aggregated from the CRDs.

The better model in each CRD according to the average value of |d| is presented in Figure 16. The 1 line model performs better than the 3 line model in 24 of 27 CRDs (89%), including the high producing CRDs.

The nonparametric test results again show somewhat more statistical difference between the models. Four CRDs show significant differences between the two models, all favoring the 1 line model. The 1 line model also performs significantly better in the Iowa and Illinois state models, the Iowa results aggregated from the CRDs, and the region model.

The better model in each CRD according to the percent of years with smaller |d| is presented in Figure 17. The 1 line model performs better in 16 of 27 CRDs (59%), the 3 line model performs better in 7 of 27 CRDs (26%) and the models are tied in 4 CRDs. The 1 line model performs better in more of the high producing CRDs.

In summary, the 1 line model often performs slightly better than the 3 line model at the CRD level. Consequently, the state and region results aggregated from the CRDs favor the 1 line model, although usually not by enough to be declared statistically significant. The Iowa and Illinois state models and the region model favor the 1 line model, significantly so for both the parametric and nonparametric tests in Iowa. The nonparametric results were significant for the Illinois state model and the region model. The Indiana parametric results favor the 1 line model, but the nonparametric results show no difference between the models.

#### All Models Are Objective

No subjective inputs are required to run any of these models. In all three cases, the single independent variable is objectively defined as year minus 1950. The join point(s) for the multi-line models as well as the parameter estimates for all models are objectively determined using least squares algorithms.

#### <u>All Models Omit Consideration</u> of Known Scientific Relationships

The straw man models do not consider factors which have a recognized causal relationship with crop yields. For example, it is well known that year-to-year variations in weather have an important effect on yield. Therefore, if weather data were available, it would be consistent with scientific knowledge to include weather variables in a model predicting crop yields. Weather variables are excluded from the straw man models yet nothing is done to account for the fact that the yields have been influenced by weather. The yields may also have been influenced by other non-technology factors. However, since no adjustment is made to the yields for these non-technology factors and since these factors are not included as independent variables in the model, the straw man model results will be affected by non-technology influences. The assumption of straw man model 1, the simple linear model, is that the rate of change in yields has stayed constant over the model development base period. An attempt was made to investigate the validity of that assumption by fitting multi-line models which allow more than one time trend. However, if the multi-line models do not perform as well as the single line model, one should not necessarily conclude that the assumption of the single line model has been confirmed. Rather the method of accounting for variation in time trends by the multi-line straw man models may not be adequate.

#### All Models Are Adequate

The three straw man models require the same input data, year and yield. Therefore, they are equally adequate. They can be developed for any crop growing region or subdivisions thereof and for any special application, such as irrigated yield, as long as the basic inputs of year and yield are available. Likewise they can be developed for areas for which acreage estimates are available in order that production estimates may be obtained.

#### All Models Are Timely

As soon as reliable figures are available for the current year's yield, each of the models can be developed and used to produce an estimate of the following year's yield. In this respect, they are all, equally, very timely.

#### The One Line Model is Least Expensive but None of the Models Are Costly

The only data required by any of the straw man models are the year and actual yield. These data are readily available at no additional cost.

The one line model can be fit using any standard statistical packaged program or statistical calculator. The multi-line models require the use of a special FORTRAN program which contains the least squares algorithm for objectively estimating the join point(s). Objectively determining two join points takes more computer time than determining a single join point. In summary, the cost of fitting the model parameters is least expensive for the one line model and most expensive for the three line model. However, the cost of fitting any of these models is very low.

#### All Models Are Simple

The philosophy behind the straw man models, describing technological trend, is simple. Users can clearly understand the basis for predicted yields. They can also understand the limitations of the models. What a user is to do in interpreting these limitations may not be so simple. The calculation of predicted yields is easy. The X values in the model are simply the year minus 1950. Thus to estimate the yield for 1980, multiply the slope by 30 and add the intercept. In the case of the multi-line models, the slope and intercept corresponding to the most recent line segment is used. One cautionary note needs to be made, however. Although the philosophy behind the model is simple, the implementation of the idea may not have been successful. The data has not been adjusted for the effects of weather. An unusually low or high yield related to weather conditions will have an impact, particularly on the multi-line models. This is because their line segment parameters are estimated from shorter time periods and will be influenced more by variations from an overall trend due to an individual year's weather or other non-persistent factors.

#### All Models Have a Poor Current Measure of Modeled Yield Reliability

The Spearman correlation coefficient between the estimate of the standard error of a predicted yield from the base period model,  $s_{\hat{Y}}$ , and the absolute value of the difference between the predicted and actual yield, |d|, indicates whether the model provides a useful current measure of modeled yield reliability. An r value close to +1 is desirable since it indicates that a smaller standard error of prediction (and therefore a narrower confidence interval about the predicted value) is associated with smaller discrepancies between predicted and actual yields. If this were the case, one would have confidence in  $s_{\hat{Y}}$  as (at least) a relative indicator of the accuracy of  $\hat{Y}$ . Any model which is primarily a function of trend, such as the straw man models, is not expected to perform well on this criteria using the test described.

From examining Table 14, one can see that most of the correlations are negative for all three models. The results for all three models are so poor that there is no value in making detailed model comparison for this characteristic.

#### CONCLUSIONS

All of the straw man models attempt to explain differences in soybean yields over time by fitting trend lines to the yield data. Straw man model 1, simple linear regression, describes a uniform increase in yield over time. Straw man models 2 and 3 allow the rate of change in yields to vary over the time period. There is little difference between the three models in relation to seven of the eight criteria for model comparison: objectivity, consistency with scientific knowledge, adequacy, timeliness, minimum costs, simplicity, and accurate current measures of modeled yield reliability. Straw man model 1 is somewhat less consistent with scientific knowledge, less costly, and simpler. It performs best in terms of the remaining criteria, yield indication reliability. However, the superior performance is often by a small margin and is often not statistically significant.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Since the largest difference between models is in relation to yield indication reliability and the one line model performs best in regard to that criteria, straw man model 1 is recommended for predicting soybean yields over straw man models 2 and 3. However, this does not necessarily substantiate that the rate of change in yields is uniform over time. More sophisticated trend models still might be able to demonstrate the validity of different rates of change over different portions of the time period considered.

#### TABLE 14 MODEL COMPARISON OF THE CURRENT INDICATION OF MODELED YIELD RELIABILITY BASED ON THE CORRELATION COEFFICIENT BETWEEN BASE PERIOD PREDICTED AND TEST YEAR ACTUAL ACCURACY

STRAW MAN MODELS - SOYBEANS IOWA, ILLINOIS, INDIANA

		1 . 1		MODE	EL INES I	3	INFS
STATE	CR2	P	PANK	R	RĂNK	R .	RANK
ΙοΨΑ	10   20   30   40   50   70   80   90	-0.15 0.16 -0.08 -0.32 0.31 -0.05 -0.59 -0.70 -0.62	(2) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (3)	0.08 0.08 -9.33 -0.23 -0.34 -0.19 -0.19 -0.53 -0.20	(1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (3) (1) (1) (2)		$\begin{array}{c} (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\ (3) \\ (2) \\ (3) \\$
STATE 40 CRDS 4	DEL GGR.	-0.28 -0.21	(3) (2)	-0.25 -0.16	(1) (1)	0.0 -0.5	$   \begin{array}{c}     9 & (1) \\     56 & (3)   \end{array} $
ILLINOIS	10 20 30 40 50 50 80 80 90	-0.04 0.12 -0.48 -0.36 -0.52 -0.52 -0.11 -0.62 -0.71	(2) (1) (3) (3) (2) (2) (3) (3)	0.19 0.02 -0.07 0.13 0.01 -0.27 0.07 -0.43 -0.46	(1) (2) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (2)		$\begin{array}{cccc} 32 & (3) \\ 20 & (3) \\ 24 & (1) \\ 34 & (2) \\ 35 & (3) \\ 47 & (2) \\ 27 & (1) \\ 37 & (2) \\ 37 & (1) \\ 37 & (2) \\ 37 & (1) \\ 37 & (2) \\ 37 & (3) \\ 3$
STATE MO	DEL GGR.	-0.30 -0.15	(3) (2)	-0.02 0.28	(2) (1)	-0.0	)7 (1) 18 (3)
INDIANA	10 20 30 50 60 70 80 90	$ \begin{array}{r} -0.33\\ 0.09\\ -0.16\\ -0.10\\ -0.06\\ -0.78\\ -0.11\\ -0.30\\ 0.05 \end{array} $	(2) (2) (2) (1) (1) (1) (1)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.27\\ 0.10\\ -0.41\\ -0.29\\ -0.30\\ -0.55\\ -0.25\\ -0.43\\ -0.60\end{array}$	(1) (1) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3)	-0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
STATE M CRDS	DDEL AGGR.	-0.21 20.0	(1) (1)	-0.48 -0.43	(3) (3)	-0 -0	27 (2) 30 (2)
REGION CRDS STATES	40DEL AGGR. AGGR.	-0.18 0.17 0.02	(3) (2) (3)	0.19 0.53 0.35	(1) (1) (1)	-0. 0. 0.	15 (2) 07 (3) 18 (2)

#### REFERENCES

BHATTACHARYAY, B. N., 1980. Crop Yield Model Test and Evaluation, a Statistical Approach. Department of Statistics. University of Missouri-Columbia.

HUDSON, DEREK J., 1966. Fitting Segmented Curves Whose Join Points Have to be Estimated. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 61:1097-1129.

KESTLE, RICHARD A., 1981. Analysis of Crop Yield Trends and Development of Simple Corn and Soybean "Straw Man" Models for Indiana, Illinois, and Iowa. AgRISTARS Yield Model Development Project, Document YMD-2-11-1(80-11.1).

MOESCHBERGER, MELVIN D., 1980. Model Testing and Evaluation. Department of Statistics, University of Missouri-Columbia.

SEBAUGH, JEANNE L., 1981. Evaluation of "Straw Man" Model 1, The Simple Linear Model, for Soybean Yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana. AgRISTARS Yield Model Development Project, Document YMD-1-3-2(81-02.1).

SEBAUGH, JEANNE L., 1981. Evaluation of "Straw Man" Model 2, Two Trends Over Time, for Soybean Yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana. [File Report].

SEBAUGH, JEANNE L., 1981. Evaluation of "Straw Man" Model 3, Three Trends Over Time, for Soybean Yields in Iowa, Illinois, and Indiana. [File Report].

THOMPSON, W. A., 1980. On Model Testing and Evaluation. Department of Statistics, University of Missouri-Columbia.

WILSON, WENDELL W., BARNETT, THOMAS L., LEDUC, SHARON K., WARREN, FRED B., 1980. Crop Yield Model Test and Evalution Criteria. AgRISTARS Yield Model Development Project, Document YMD-1-1-2(80-2.1).

#### APPENDIX - STATISTICAL FORMULAS

#### Measures of Model Performance

#### Definition of Terms:

 $Y_i$  = Yield as reported by U.S.D.A. for year i ("true" or "actual" yield).

 $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{i}$  = Yield as predicted by a model for year i.

 $d_i = \hat{Y}_i - Y_i$  = difference between predicted and actual yield for year i.

 $rd_i = 100 d_i/Y_i = relative difference for year i.$ 

- $s_{\hat{Y}_{i}}^{2}$  = Standard error of a predicted value for year  $i = s_{Y_{i}}^{2} (1 + \underline{x}_{0}' (\underline{X}'\underline{X})^{-1} \underline{x}_{0})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , where  $\underline{X}$  is the regression design matrix of independent variable values and  $\underline{x}_{0}$  is the vector of independent variable values for the year the prediction is being made.

i = 1, ..., n = number of test years and 
$$\Sigma = \overset{n}{\Sigma}$$
 = summation over the test years.  
i=1  
 $\overline{Y} = 1/n \overset{n}{\Sigma} Y_i$  = average actual yield.  
i=1

#### Measures:

Bias = B =  $1/n \Sigma d_i = \overline{d}$ . Relative Bias = RB =  $100 B/\overline{Y}$ . Mean Square Error = MSE =  $1/n \Sigma d_i^2$ . Root Mean Square Error = RMSE =  $(MSE)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Relative Root Mean Square Error = RRMSE =  $100 RMSE/\overline{Y}$ . Variance = Var =  $1/n \Sigma (d_i - \overline{d})^2$ . Standard Deviation = SD =  $(Var)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Relative Standard Deviation = RSD = 100 SD/( $\overline{Y} + \overline{d}$ ).

```
Mean Square Error = Variance + (Bias)<sup>2</sup>,
```

or

Accuracy = Precision +  $(Bias)^2$ .

Pearson r between 
$$\hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{i}}$$
 and  $\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{i}}$ :  
r =  $\begin{bmatrix} \Sigma \hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{i}} - \frac{(\Sigma \hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{i}})(\Sigma \mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{i}})}{n} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma \hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{i}}^2 - \frac{(\Sigma \hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{i}})^2}{n} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma \hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{i}}^2 - \frac{(\Sigma \hat{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{i}})^2}{n} \end{bmatrix}$ 

Spearman r between  $|d_i|$  and  $s_{\hat{Y}_i}$ :

Let 
$$R(|d_i|) = \text{the rank of } |d_i|$$
,  $R(s_{\hat{Y}_i}) = \text{the rank of } s_{\hat{Y}_i}$ , and  
 $f_i = R(|d_i|) - R(s_{\hat{Y}_i})$ ,  $i = 1, ..., n$ . Then,  
 $r = 1 - \frac{6\Sigma f_i^2}{n^3 - n}$ .

# Paired-Sample Statistical Tests Comparing the Performance of Two Crop Yield Models.

# Definition of Terms:

$$\hat{Y}_{1_{i}}$$
 = Yield as predicted by model 1 for year 1.  
 $\hat{Y}_{2_{i}}$  = Yield is predicted by model 2 for year 1.  
 $|d_{1_{i}}| = |\hat{Y}_{1_{i}} - Y_{i}|$  = Absolute value of the difference between model 1 predicted  
and actual yield for year 1.  
 $|d_{2_{i}}| = |\hat{Y}_{2_{i}} - Y_{i}|$  = Absolute value of the difference between model 2 predicted

$$|d_{2_i}| = |\dot{Y}_{2_i} - \dot{Y}_{i}|$$
 = Absolute value of the difference between model 2 predicted  
and actual yield for year i.

 $D_{i} = |d_{1_{i}}| - |d_{2_{i}}|.$ 

Rank  $(|D_i|)$  = Ranks of the absolute values of  $D_i$  assigned in ascending order (smallest value of  $|D_i|$  = rank 1, ..., largest value of  $|D_i|$  = rank n). If two or more years have the same value for  $|D_i|$ , assign each year the average of the ranks.

Parametric Test - Student t:

 $H_0: \mu_D = 0$   $H_a: \mu_D \neq 0$ Test Statistic = t =  $\frac{\overline{D}}{s_{\overline{D}}}$ , where

$$\overline{D} = 1/n \Sigma D_i,$$
  
 $s_{\overline{D}} = (s_{\overline{D}}^2/n)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \text{ and}$   
 $s_{\overline{D}}^2 = [\Sigma D_i^2 - 1/n(\Sigma D_i)^2]/(n-1).$ 

Reject  $H_0$  if  $|t| > t_{\alpha}$ , (n-1).

#### Nonparametric Test - Wilcoxon Signed Rank:

- $H_0$ : There is no difference in the performance of the models.  $H_a$ : There is a difference in the performance of the models. Procedure to compute test statistic, T:
- 1. Compute the D<sub>i</sub>.
- 2. Assign ranks to  $|D_i|$ .

3. Assign signs to Rank ( $|D_i|$ ) corresponding to the signs of  $D_i$ .

4. Let T = the absolute value of the sum of the ranks with the less frequent sign. Reject H<sub>0</sub> if T  $\leq T_{\alpha}(1 \text{ tailed})$ , n

		IOW/ C	BOOTSTR OR SOY A. ILLI OMPARING	APPEND AP TES BEAN Y NOIS+ G SIRA	TX TRESU IELDS AND IN WMAN M	ITS IN DIANA DDELS	<b>D</b>		2
STATE		YEAR	ACTUAL YIFLD (QZH)	YIE SH 1	EDICTEL LD (07) SM 2	2 54 () H) 5M 3	PREDIC	W MAN D= DA-GT S M 2	J TUAL SM 3
IOWA	10	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	19.1 21.6 25.3 19.1 24.1 20.3 21 20.3 22 25.1	2014 2019 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022	20.7 19.2 29.2 24.3 4.6 222 24.1 2224.1 2224.1 2224.1 2224.1	19046449914 22222222	1.3 -1.4 -2.7 -1.4 -3.1 -1.4 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & 6 \\ -2 & 0 \\ -4 & 1 \\ -0 & 4 \\ -0 & 1 \\ -0 & 1 \\ -4 & 0 \\ -4 & 0 \\ -3 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 \\ \end{array} $	02.4 -02.1 -06.7 -06.7 -04.4 -22.8 -22.8 -2.8 -2.8 -2.8 -2.8 -2.8 -2
	20	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1978	2448427 22229 2324459 22224459	21.1 21.7 22.1 22.7 22.7 23.2 23.4 24.25	999999049994 202132324994 20213232134 20213232134	820818312 22227418312 222272228 222272228 22227228 2222722 2222722	-1.1 -1.3 -1.1 -0.3 -0.5 -1.23 -1.23 -0.62 -1.23 -0.62 -1.23 -0.62 -1.62 -0.62 -0.62 -0.62 -0.62 -0.62 -0.62 -0.63 -0.65 -0.55	-1.3 1.55 1.1 3.52 0.7 -2.7 -0.5	-0.49 1.49 -0.07 -1.40 -2.53 -0.1
	30	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21.8 19.1 22.0 18.3 20.4 19.0 25.0 25.1 24.6	18.9 19.8 20.8 21.2 21.3 21.3 21.3 22.1 22.1 22.1 22.1	18.7 21.9 19.4 222.4 222.4 222.4 222.4 222.4 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 22.3 2.9	19.07245 91.0454 22.2200000000	-2.97 -1.92965 -22.01 -3.65 -1.4	-3.1 -22.1 1.4 1.1 -2.0 -2.1 -1.4 -1.1 -2.0 -2.7	-2.848 -0.4848 -1.420 -0.030 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00
	40	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	19.3 20.1 224.1 123.5 123.5 29.2 27.3 27.3 27.3	21.1 21.1 21.2 22.1 22.1 22.2 23.2 23.2	21.55687 222222 22222 22222 22222 2222 2222 2	20.0 20.1 221.0 221.0 221.0 221.0 221.0 222.0 222.0 222.0 222.0 222.0 222.0 222.0 222.0 222.0 222.0 22.0 0.0 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 0.0 1 22.0 2.0 0 22.0 2.0 22.0 2	1.8 1.0 -3.3 0.2 -0.7 -0.3 -4.1 -1.7	2.4405458303 -44.5458303 -13.60 -13.60 -152.	1.3 -0.1 -4.4.2 -0.7 -1.7 -1.7 -1.9 -5.3 -0.9

SM	1=STR	IOW CO AW MAN	BOOTSTR FOR SOYI A. ILLII OMPARINO 1 SM	APPEND AP TES BEAN Y NOIS+ G STRA 2=STRA	IX T RESU IELDS AND IN WMAN M W MAN	LTS IN DIANA ODELS 2 SM	3=stra	W MAN	3
STATE	CRD	YEAR	ACTUAL YIELD (Q/H)	YIE SM 1	EDICTE	D H) SM 3	PREDIC SM 1	D= TED-AC SM 2	TUAL
IOWA	50	1970 1971 1972 1973 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	4215359 222249319031 222249319031	6373726439 2334444444 2233444444444444444444444	080681 34455333034 22222222222	8319792875 2555523223 22222222222222222222222222	-1.81 -0.42477 -5.02330 -2.332 -2.332	-1.46 -1.15 -1.15 -1.45	-2.10 -2.00 -0.00 -0.00 -1.00 -0.00 -1.00
	60	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	5364936074 22221222668	027 024 024 024 024 024 025 025 025 025 025 025 025 025	5858647598 455555777598 222222222	55554333777 22222222222222222222222222222222	-0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -7 -0.1 -7 -0.0 -0.0 -0.0 -0.0 -0.0 -0.0 -0.0 -	0594791586 	0.4946277 -024627707 -02307
	70	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21.8 221.9 221.8 9 2221.8 9 200.6 3 8 9 223.8 9 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 2	0800920032	0029898637 222222222222222222222222222222222222	21.3 221.67 222.2 222.2 221.6 5 6 7 6 5 6 2 2 2 2 1.6 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 5 7 6 7 8 6 7 8 6 7 8 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 9	0.829 -0.00 -0.52 -0.57 -0.57 -0.57	1.673902752 -123.002752 -11.82	-0.020680827 -1.20
	80	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	22.1 21.0 22.4 20.6 13.4 20.6 120.2 20.2 20.2 20.2 20.2 20.1 23.1	19.3 20.5 21.1 20.5 14 20.6 8 9 20.6 8 9	19.62 222 222 29.55 258 20.0 199.83 0 199.83 0 0	18.15 22 22 22 29 19.5 19.5 19.5 19.5 19.5 19.5 19.5 19.	-2.8 -1.0 -1.9 1.1 7.8 0.9 0.4 0.4 -1.3 -2.2	-003592748 -00360-748 -0013	-3.6 0.1 3.8 9.1 -0.7 -0.4 -2.5 -3.1

		IOM	BOOTSTR FOR SOY A. ILLI	APPEND AP TES BEAN Y NOIS:	IX T RESU IELDS AND IN	LTS IN DIANA			
	SM 1=STR	AW MAN	1 SM	2=STRA	WMAN M W MAN	2 54	3=STRA	W MAN	3
STATE	CRD	YEAR	ACTUAL YIELD (Q/H)	YIE SM 1	EDICTE LD (Q/ SM 2	D H) SM 3	PREDIC SM 1	D=-4C SM-2	TUAL SM 3
IOWA	90	1970 1971 1972 1973 1975 1975 1976 1977 1978	23.4 23.4 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2	9639250 20122323250 202232323333 2022323233333 202323233333 202323233333 202323233333 202323233333 202323233333 202323233333 2023233333 20232333333 2023233333 20232333333 20232333333 2023233333 2023233333 2023233333 20232333333 20232333333 2023233333 2023233333 2023233333 202333333 202333333 202333333 202333333 20233333 202333333 202333333 202333333 202333333 202333333 202333333 2023333333 2023333333 20233333333	9 806 127 858 2355 4 1 1 - 858 2422 241 1 - 858	970555884 225541.884 22222222222222222222222222222222222	-2.2.1 -2.0 1.4 -0.4 -1.7 -3.4	-1.2 0.1 0.7 4.1 7.3 -1.49 -3.52 -1.52	-1.2 0.0 0.7 -1.1 -3.0 -1.6 -4.6
STATE	MODEL	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978	21.99298989996 22288989996	27-1 27-1 22223238-84294 2222323233-84294 2222323233-844294	21	21.0 21.0 22.4 24.6 22.4 2.4 2.4 2.1 2.7 2.4 3.7 2.2 2.4 3.3 2.4 3.3 2.4 3.3 2.4 3.3 3.4 3.3 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 3	-0.7 -2.1 -2.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.7 -2.0 -1.2	-0.4 -1.85 -1.85 -1.2 -2.5 -1.5	
CRD	95 AGGR.	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21.99 224298989899 22228203996	37-1-8-09 21-2-2-8-09 2222-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2	21.6 6 6 5 3 2 2 2 2 2 4 4 2 5 6 6 5 3 1 5 6 9 1 9 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	21.14723 22244.232 22244.232 22244.232 2224.19 2224.19 2224.19 2224.19 2224.19 2224.19 2224.19 2222.24 10 2222.24 222.24 22.24	-0.62 -2.1 -0.15 0.6 -0.7 -2.0 -1.3	-0.3 0.7 -1.7 1.43 -0.8 -2.8 -1.7	-0.8553579806 -1.50.9806 -1.3.6

APPENDIX BOOTSTRAP TEST RESULTS FOR SOYBEAN YIELDS IN IOWA: TLLINOIS: AND INDIANA COMPARING STRAWMAN MODELS SM 1=STRAW MAN 1 SM 2=STRAW MAN 2 SM 3=STRAW MAN 3									
STATE	CRD	YEAR	ACTUAL YIFLD (Q/H)	PRI YIEI SM 1	EDICTEL LD (OZ) SM 2	) H) SM 3	PREDIC SM 1	D= TED-AC SM 2	TUAL SM 3
ILLINOIS	10	1970 1971 1972 1973 1975 1975 1975 1977 1978 1979	4045043388 2222122747 22222747	6818021879 2223343434344 222222222222222222222222	4992949763 2445423245 222222222222222222222222222	3931020920 22222222222222222222222222222222	-0.82 -1.33 -1.30 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -3.02 -1.02	-1.0 1.95 1.79 -4.06 -4.25	0.9846027463 -40.463
	20	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21.00 2021.00 2221.00 2221.00 225.05 205.05 225.05 2222222 2222222222	200.845986666 222211.6986666	423667 0222201233 222222201233	9:2079703108 122222222222222222222222222222222222	-0.3 -1.20 -1.00 -4.13 -4.33 -4.33 -4.33 -3.8	-0.6 1.3 1.6 -4.3 1.1 -3.8 1.4 -2.9	01.547 -13.54 -13.54 -12
	30	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	23.1 225.0 225.0 25.2 25.3 25.3 25.3 25.3 25.3 25.4 25.3 25.4 25.3 25.4 25.3 25.4 25.3 25.4 25.3 25.4 25.4 25.4 25.4 25.4 25.4 25.4 25.4	21.88547 2222333.089557	21.37.62.8 222.454.8 222.454.8 222.454.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2	23.07 235.07 222 227 24.09 464 5 222 222 222 222 222 222 222 222 222	-1.3554 -22.54 7.1 -2.55 -1.7 -1.7 -2.1	-1.8 -0.422 -3.22 -3.27 -3.02 -3.0	0.1 -0.60 3.7 -3.1 -0.9 -3.0 -0.4 -3.2
	40	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	77487 22564675857 22564675857	0732553523 4345545566 2222222222222222222222222222222	22222222222222222222222222222222222222	6097620 65566994465 22222222222222222222222222222222222	12008202045 -208202045 -020201	0.9 -0.5 -0.9 10.0 -3.9 -1.9 -3.2 -0.2 -1.3	3.97 -0.5999 -1.99 -3.94 -2.

.

APPENDIX BOOTSTRAP TEST PESULTS FOR SOYBEAN YIELDS IN IOWA: ILLINOIS: AND INDIANA COMPARING STRAWMAN MODELS SM 1=STRAW MAN 1 SM 2=STRAW MAN 2 SM 3=STRAW MAN 3									
STATE	CRD	A ( YEAR	CTUAL YIELD (QZH)	PRE YIEL SM 1		) 1) 5M 3	PREDIC	D= TED-4C SM 2	TUAL SM 3
ILLINOIS	50	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1978	1747647384	4.539.148.313 8.89.148.313 8.89.148.313 8.89.148.314 8.99.148.314 8.89.148.314 8.89.148.314 8.89.148.314 8.89.148.314 8.89.148.314 8.89.148.314 8.99.149.148.314 8.99.148.314 8.99.148.314 8.99.148.3144 8.99.148.3144 8.99.148.3144 8.99.148.3144 8.99.149.149.3144 8.99.149.149.149.149.149.149.149.149.149.	1152251448 2466524555 222222222255	23.1 24.6 222.2 222.2 222.2 22.2 22.2 2.2 2.2 2	-0.7 -3.2 -1.1 1.265 -3.00 0.35 -3.00 0.3 -1.1	-1.0 -1.6 -1.5 -3.5 -3.4 -3.6 -3.6 -0.6	0.8 -1.5 7.7 -0.0 -1.4
	60	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	2222274363	6407951 22233351143 22233354444	33771273429 2333441333429 222222222222222222222222222222222	32-50 222-50 222-20 22-20 22-20 20-20 20	1.6 -0.9 -1.7 -0.8 -1.5 -2.8	1.3 0.3 -0.3 -2.1 5.6 -2.3 -3.2 1.1 -3.2	2.56 -1.66 -1.67 -2.7 -4.29 -2.1
	70	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	18.3 191.67 191.62 195.63 195.63 219.63 2024.97	19.66 190.78 3827 00.83 8279 1.79	21.62 4838 2201.838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4838 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4837 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.4977 200.49777 200.49777 200.49777 200.497777 200.4977777777777777777777777777777777777	21.7 220.1 220.1 221.1 19.1 21.2 2.2 .3 2 2.2 .3 2 2.2 .3	1.3 0.0 -1.7 2.1 -3.6 -1.3 -1.5 -1.5 -3.0 -0.1 -3.0 -0.1 -2.8	3.3 -1.3 5.1 -2.1 -3.5 -1.0	3.4265958 -135258 -23.057 -0.7
	80	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	18.02 17.02 175.02 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 1	178 18	18.89 18.99 19.80 19.80 19.80 19.60 19.60 19.60	18.63 18.28 18.89 19.45 19.47 20.3	-0.2 0.8 -1.6 2.1 -2.1 -2.1 -2.4 -3.2 1.4 -3.2	0.66 -1.184 -3.62 -4.1 -2.5	0.61 -1.869 -3.69 -3.67 -3.98 -3.98

APPENDIX BOOTSTRAP TEST RESULTS FOR SOYBEAN YIELDS IN									
SM 1=	STRAW	COM MAN 1	ILLIN PARING SM 2	STRAI STRAI	AND IND Wman mo Wman 2 N man 2	DIANA DELS SM	3=STRAV	MAN 3	3
STATE C	RD Y	AC Y EAR (	TUAL IFLD Q/H)	PRE YIEL SM 1	EDICTED D (0/H SM 2	) 1) 5M 3	PREDICI	D= ED-AC1 SM 2	UAL SM 3
ILLINOIS	90 10	970 971 972 973 974 975 976 976 977 978 978	15.6 16.7 15.2 15.2 15.2 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 13.0	16.5 16.0 17.6 17.6 17.6 17.6 17.6 17.8 17.1 17.1 17.1 17.1 17.1 17.1 17.1	17.0 156.8 166.59 165.7 177.1 177.1 18.1	15558757798 11111111111111111111111111111111111	0.9 0.47 -1.74 3.7 -1.6 -0.3 -2.6 -0.3 -2.6 -0.4 -2.0 -4.2	1.4 -0.46 -2.66 -3.1 -3.14 -3.7 -3.6	-0.18 -0.81 -3.18 -3.19 -2.33 -2.66 -2.45
STATE MODE		970 971 972 973 974 975 976 976 977 978 979	8222522659 023164252525	21.27 221.47 221.47 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 222.22 22.2	21.098 20098 163528 200000000000000000000000000000000000	9409304680 2222222222222222	0.05 -1.05 -	-2-0 -2-0-0 -2-6-6 -2-6-6 -2-1 -3-1 -2-1	200278280 -200263080 -04129 -20039
CRDS AGG	R. 10	970 971 972 973 974 975 976 976 977 978 979	8222522659	21	21.53 2233.60 2233.60 200.09 200.0000000000	22.72 222.8 2223.1 2223.1 2223.1 2223.1 9 6 9 4 7 223.7 223.7 223.7 223.7 223.7 223.7 223.7 223.7 223.7 223.7 22.7 22	0.40 -1.53 -1.10 -0.53 -0.50 -0.00 -	0.7 -0.2 -3.5 -3.7 -3.7 -2.1	10045636792 -226306792 -20302

-

APPENDIX BODISTRAP TEST RESULTS FOR SOMEAN VIELDS TH									
SM	1=STR	WOI C MAM WA	A. ILLI OMPARIN 1 SM	NOIS. G STRA 2=STPA	AND IN WMAN M W MAN	DIANA ODELS 2 SM	3=STRA	W MAN	3
STATE	CRD	YEAR	ACTUAL YIELD (QZH)	PD YIE SM 1	EDICTE LD (OZ SM 2	1) 71) 5M 3	PREDIC SM 1	D= TED-AC SM 2	TUAL SM 3
INDIANA	10	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21.782 2201.13 2201.13 2201.13 2201.13 2201.13 2201.13 2201.13 2202.14 200.14	201-47 201-47 201-47 202-247 2	9178626487 122322012223	2244 2222 2222 2222 2222 2222 2222 222	-1.43 -1.30 -1.34 -1.34 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.43 -3.444 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3	-1.8757395010 -03.7595010 -03.00	-0.32.058 -04252.058 -04108 -1.8
	20	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	20.75 191.63 191.88 191.88 191.13 125.88 190 225.00 25.00 25.00	19.00 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900	19.10 221.9 221.9 222.9 12.9 1	19.20 22.20 22.20 21.10 22.20 21.10 22.20 20.20	-1.3 -2.0 -1.0 -3.7 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -2.9	-1.6576453 -0.64053139 -1.9	-0.396451 -0206451068 -04268
	30	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1975 1977 1978 1979	19.952597 109.597 109.597 109.597 109.597 109.40 109.597 109.40	45993839236 88899999286 199999988 19999988 1999998 1999998 1999998 1999998 199999 19990 19990 19990 19900 19000 100000 100000000	1869 1900 19900 19900 19900 19900 1000 19900 1000000	19.29982230 199.9982230 201.99.00 201.99.00 201.99.00 203.4 203.4 203.4	-1.5 -2.3 -1.2 -1.4 -1.4 -1.4 -2.4	-1.97 -0.44325395 -1.443.95	-0.767 -0.67 -0.335 -12.98 -0.86
	40	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21.20 241.25 222 225 244.44 225 244.44 224 224 224 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 2	000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 00	2215449 2215449 22222222222222222222222222222222222	35774354092 222444014092 222422222 2225 2222222222 22222222222	-0.6 -3.1 -0.1 -1.4 -1.6 -1.2 -0.7 -0.2	023157758576 	012280000000000000000000000000000000000

APPENDIX BOOTSTRAP TEST RESULTS									
SM	1=STR	IOW C Aw MAN	FOR SOY 14, ILLI Comparin 1 1 Sm	BEAN Y NOIS• G STRA 2=STRA	IELDS AND IN WMAN M W MAN	IN DIANA ODELS 2 SM	3=STRA	W MAN	3
STATE	CRD	YEAR	ACTUAL YIELD (0/H)	YIE SM 1	EDICTE LD (0/ SM 2	Ü Н) 5м 3	PREDIC SM 1	D= TED-AC SM 2	TUAL SM 3
INDIANA	50	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	2403745665 2403745665	24127 29438 2112222209438 22222222344	2134444 2334444 2334444 2334444 2334444 2334 2	9112054468 22222222222222222222222222222222222	-02-1-97 -15-22-320 -02-1-5-22-50-7	-140622202 -140622202	-0.2 -14.0996 -11.057 -20.3
	50	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979		18.69 18.4 19.7 20.4 20.8 21.0 21.7 22.3	20.1 222.4 222.4 222.4 222.4 20.6 222.4 22.4 22.4 22.4 22.4 22.4 22.4 2.4	20.34 20.4 20.2 20.2 20.2 20.2 20.2 20.2 20.		02223865451 	0040510207744 -0201
	70	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	19.44 19.48 19.48 19.48 19.47 19.47 19.47 19.44 19.47 19.44 19.47	20.69 2221.7 221.7 221.7 221.7 221.7 221.65	21.35 221.45 221.45 221.45 200		1.256 1.01 3.01 -2.7 -0.7		0
	80	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	19.3 19.2 17.6 16.3 16.1 19.8 19.9 19.0	19.8 20.8 20.8 20.8 20.8 20.8 20.8 20.8 20	20.7 20.9 21.1 19.7 18.3 18.0 18.0 18.3 18.6	19.7 19.9 20.0 19.1 19.2 19.2 19.2 19.2 19.2 19.2 18.3 18.5	0.12591 3.3591 -10.326 -10.326	14754326864 1332312210 1410	4743519965 0023231219965

APPENDIX BOOTSTRAP TEST RESULTS FOR SOYBEAN YIELDS IN IOWA, ILLINDIS, AND INDIANA COMPARING STRAWMAN MODELS SM 1-STRAW MAN 2 SM 3=STRAW MAN 3									
STATE	CRD	YEAR	ACTUAL YIELD (QZH)	PR YIE SM J	EDICTE LD (Q/ SM 2	1) H) SM 3	PREDIC SM 1	D= TED-AC SM 2	TUAL SM 3
INDIANA	90	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1978 1978	18.9 19.7 15.7 17.4 17.4 21.7 19.7 19.7	200-15 200-5	20.9 221.0 20.3 19.2 18.1 18.1 19.1 19.8 19.8	19.5 19.7 19.3 19.3 18.1 18.0 18.0 18.0 18.0 21.5	1.892165586 -1.892 -1.886	2.0 1.2595 4.595 -3.6 0.1 0.1	0.7 0.8 3.6 9.5 0.5 -3 -3 1.5 1.5
STATE MO	DDEL	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1978	8282859922 22121622434 222222222222222222222222222222222	20.1 201.0 200.0 201.0 200.0 200.0 200.0 200.0 200.0 2	20.00 2013.02 2023.02.02 2023.	307.00.403.43 02.07.00.403.43 22.22.22.22.22.23 2.22.22.22.23 2.22.22.23 2.22.22.23 2.22.22.23 2.22.23 2.22.23 2.23.24 2.23.24 2.23.24 2.23.24 2.24.24.24 2.24.24.24 2.24.24.24 2.24.24.24.24 2.24.24.24.24.24.24.24.24.24.24.24.24.24	-0.7 -1.82 -1.20 -1.30 -1.30 -1.30 -1.20 -	-0315218275 -1300	-0.3937 -0.3937 -0.31.57 -14.624 -0.4
CRDS	4GGR.	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	828 229 219 216 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	20.1 200.9 200.9 1.5 0 200.1 200.9 200.0 2	3614532 2013-4532 202220 202222 20222 2022	20.66 222 222 222 222 222 222 222 222 222	-0.79 -1.9 1.1 -0.75 -1.39 -2.9 -0.42	-03-152-1200 -152-1200	-0.0310.025 -11.000 -11.000

APPENDIX BOOTSTRAP TEST RESULTS									
FOR SOYBEAN YIELDS IN IOWA• ILLINOIS• AND INDIANA COMPARING STRAWMAN MODELS									
SM	4 1=STR/	AW MAN	1 SM 2	2=STRA	MAN	2 54	3=stra	W MAN	3
STATE	CRD	YEAR	ACTUAL YIELD (QZH)	YIE SM 1	EDICTE LD (O/ SM 2	0 H) SM 3	PREDIC SM 1	D= TED-AC SM 2	TUAL SM 3
REGION	MODEL	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21 • 2 22 • 8 21 • 8 21 • 8 17 • 4 23 • 8 21 • 8 23 • 4 23 • 4 23 • 4 23 • 7 25 • 4	21.0 21.3 22.1 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2	21.9 2223.0 2223.5 2223.2 2223.5 2223.5 2223.5 222.5 223.5 2	21.8 2233.5 2233.5 21.4 21.4 21.4 23.4 21.4 23.4 23.4 23.4 23.4 23.4 23.4 23.4 23	-0.2 -0.8 -1.05 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.9 -2.3 -0.3 -1.8	0.227925356 -0.201520355 -0.301 -1.	0.550 0.550 0.550 0.550 0.50 0.50 0.50
CRDS	AGGR.	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21.2 22.1 22.1 22.1 22.1 22.1 22.1 22.1	21.027 221.73 222.227 222.222 22.2222 22.2222 22.2222 22.22	3386 34 19 30 2222324 19 30 22223212121212	21.7 222.8 222.8 222.8 221.9 221.9 221.9 221.9 221.9 221.9 221.0 22.9 22.9 22.9 22.9 22.9 22.9 22.9 22	-0.2 -9.1 -1.52 -1.52 -1.39 -2.39 -2.38	0.12089 00.89 -00152089 -0015208944	0.51 0.08 1.08 -20.12 -20.9 -0.4 -1.4
STATES	AGGR.	1970 1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979	21-2 22-1 22-1 22-1 22-1 22-1 22-1 22-1	21.0 21.7 22.7 22.7 22.7 22.7 22.7 22.7 22.8 8 23.4 23.7	21.0 2223.7 2223.5 22223.1 222223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 22223.1 2222.2 2222.2 2222.2 2222.2 2222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 2.	21.70 222.93 222.33 221.65 223 223 223 223 223 223 223 223 223 22	-0.29 -1.15 -1.55 -1.3 -2.0 -0.3 -1.7	-0.2 -0.1 -0.19 -1.90 -1.92 -2.7 -0.3 -1.3	0.5 -0.0 2.0 -0.1 -2.3 -0.5 -0.5 -1.8

•